
Meeting of:  Cabinet
Date: Tuesday, 27th March, 2018
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Hollingworth B&C , First Floor, Training & 

Conference Suite, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 4 - 15

To consider the Minutes of the meetings of Cabinet held on 20th 
February 2018 and 27th February 2018. 

6.  FINANCE UPDATE REPORT 2017/18 16 - 20

To consider the latest financial positions of the Council. 

7.  PLANNING SERVICES: PLANNING PERFORMANCE 
AGREEMENTS 

21 - 23

Public Document Pack



To consider the decision making process of Planning Performance 
Agreements. 

8.  HOUSING ALLOCATIONS 24 - 30

To consider proposals to enable the Council to meet the responsibility 
placed on it by the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act.    

9.  GENDER PAY GAP 31 - 38

To consider the Council’s position with regards to the Gender Pay 
Gap. 

10.  GM WIDE CONTINUITY OF SERVICE PROTOCOL FOR THE 
RECOGNITION OF SERVICE BETWEEN LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
AND SPECIFIED EMPLOYERS WITHIN GREATER MANCHESTER. 

39 - 45

To consider the Continuity of Service Protocol for the Recognition of 
Service between Local Authorities and Specified Employers within 
Greater Manchester. 

11.  CHILDCARE SUFFICIENCY ASSESSMENT 2017/18 46 - 77

To consider the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2017/18. 

12.  PROPOSED SCHOOL ENLARGEMENTS - DETERMINATION OF 
STATUTORY PROPOSALS 

78 - 112

To consider the determination of statutory proposals for the 
enlargement of Schools. 

13.  CAPITAL INVESTMENT IN SCHOOLS 2018/19 113 - 116

To consider proposals for capital investment in schools for 2018/19.  

14.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

15.  CAPITAL INVESTMENT IN SCHOOLS 2018/19 - APPENDIX A AND 
B 

117 - 118



To consider capital investments in schools 2018/19. 

Cabinet Members
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor Daalat Ali
Councillor John Blundell Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Neil Emmott Councillor Janet Emsley
Councillor Kieran Heakin Councillor Liam O'Rourke
Councillor Sara Rowbotham

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Michael Garraway
01706 924711 or 924716
Committee.Services@Rochdale.Gov.UK



CABINET

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 20th February 2018

PRESENT:  Councillor Brett (in the Chair); Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed, Daalat 
Ali, Blundell, Neil Emmott, Emsley, Martin (substitute for Councillor Heakin), 
O’Rourke and Rowbotham

OFFICERS:  S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive), N. Thornton (Director of 
Resources), G. Hopper (Director of Children’s Services), M. Widdup (Director 
of Neighbourhoods), V. Bradshaw (Chief Finance Officer), D. Bowler 
(Assistant Director - Place), M. Robinson (Assistant Director – Planning), 
D. Brierley (Head of Communications), M. Aiken, P. Maynard, A. Webster 
(Neighbourhoods Directorate) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate). 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor Dearnley 

APOLOGIES
104 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Heakin.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
105 There were no declarations of interests.

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
106 There were no urgent items for the Cabinet to consider.

MINUTES
107 Decision:
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet, held 30th January 2018, be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

2018/19 DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS RATE RELIEF POLICY
108 The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Resources noting 
that the  Discretionary Business Rate Relief Policy required an amendment for 
2018/19 due to a change announced in the 2017 Autumn Budget. In 
considering the report the Cabinet was being asked to consider a proposal to 
revise the Policy to raise additional business rate income.

The Cabinet was also to be asked to consider making a recommendation to 
the Budget Council meeting, on 28th February 2018, to revise the policy to 
raise additional business rates income. There were two options for the 
Cabinet to consider; Option one: to introduce a maximum rateable value of 
£51,000, above which relief will not be granted to charitable and not-for-profit 
organisations - this will raise additional business rate income of approximately 
£205,000 per annum. Option two: no changes to the existing policy.

Alternatives considered:

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



The change to the policy relating to Pub Relief had been determined by the 
Government and the Council had been directed to implement, therefore no 
alternatives were considered.

Decision:
1. The Cabinet approves the extension of Pub Relief from 1st April 2018, 

noting that the extension for a further financial year to 31st March 2019 
was announced in the 2017 Autumn budget.

2. The Council be requested to pursue option one (see above) and 
introduce a maximum rateable value of £51,000, above which relief will 
not be granted to charitable and not-for-profit organisations. This will 
raise additional business rate income of approximately £205,000 per 
annum.

Reasons for the decision:
The powers for granting discretionary rate relief by Councils were provided in 
Sections 44a, 47 and 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, which 
was subsequently, amended by the Localism Act 2011 to incorporate wider 
powers to grant relief under local discretion.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR 2018/19
109 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer that 
sought approval from the Council for the Borough’s Treasury Management 
Strategy 2018/2019. The main objectives of the Treasury Management 
Strategy were: to effectively manage and control the risks associated with 
treasury management activities giving regard to the CIPFA Code, and all 
relevant legislation, criteria and limits set within this report.

Alternatives considered:
It was reported that there were no feasible alternatives – all proposals were 
in accordance with the revised CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management, which had been formally adopted by the Council, and with 
Government guidance regarding the Treasury Management Strategy.

Decision:
The annual Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 be recommended to 
Council for approval with particular reference to:
a. The objectives of treasury management (detailed at section 2 and 
Appendix A of the submitted report);
b. The forecasted capital financing/borrowing requirement (detailed at 
paragraph in section 3.1.1 of the submitted report);
c. The Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit for debt (detailed at 
paragraph 3.1.3 of the submitted report);
d. Delegated authority be granted to the Chief Finance Officer to approve 
a breach in these boundaries where it would be advantageous to the Council 
(as detailed at paragraph 3.1.3 of the submitted report);
e. The Council’s criteria for assessing the creditworthiness of 
counterparties for investments (as detailed at paragraph 3.2.1 of the 
submitted report) with an emphasis on security of capital over return;

Page 5



f. The additional Prudential and Treasury Indicators (as identified at 
paragraph 3.4 of the submitted report);
g. The Minimum Revenue Provision Policy (detailed at paragraph 3.5 of the 
submitted report);
h. If significant changes to financial institutions’ ratings occur as a result 
of global industry changes to the ratings system (detailed at paragraph 
3.2.1 of the submitted report), delegated approval be granted to the C h i e f  
F i n a n c e  O f f i c e r  to temporarily suspend the Council’s own 
creditworthiness criteria in favour of the  modelling approach adopted by 
our financial advisors.

Reasons for the recommendation:
The report w a s  produced to gain t h e  C a b i n e t ’ s  a p p r o v a l  o f  
t h e  Treasury Management Strategy, prior to submission to the Budget 
Council meeting on 28th February 2018 and to ensure that Cabinet Members 
be informed of and ensure adherence to the requirements of the Prudential 
Framework.

CAPITAL, INVESTMENT AND DISPOSAL STRATEGY 2018 TO 2021
110 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer which 
outlined the capital, investment and disposal strategy for the Council. This 
strategy was a three year plan which formed a key part of the Council’s asset 
management and property investment strategies. The strategy provided the 
framework for all aspects of the Council’s capital programme, including 
planning, prioritisation, management and funding.

The capital, investment and disposal strategy linked the Council’s vision and 
priorities with forecasted capital resources and capital budgets and flowed into 
the medium term financial strategy to ensure that all revenue implications 
were recognised and provided for in the revenue budgetary forecasts.

The strategy considered: its purpose and links to national, regional and local 
priorities; priority areas for Investment; funding; governance arrangements; 
and the disposals strategy.

Alternatives considered:
The Council was legally obliged to set a balanced budget. The budget setting 
process was complex and was required to be undertaken in a planned way. 
Budgets thus were prepared in accordance with approved guidelines.

Decision:
That the Council be recommended to approve the Capital, Investment and 
Disposal Strategy 2018 to 2021.

Reasons for the recommendation:
The purpose of the Capital, investment and Disposal Strategy was to provide 
a framework within which the Council’s long term investment plans will be 
delivered to ensure that all capital investments were consistent with the 
Council’s priorities, consider associate risks, recognise financial constraints 
over the longer term and represent value for money.  These plans were to be 

Page 6



driven by the Council’s Place Plan, The Townships Plan, The Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Council’s Asset Strategies.  

The Capital, Investment and Disposal Strategy should therefore comply with 
the Prudential Code for Local Authority Capital Investment introduced through 
the Local Government Act 2013 and the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy. The key objectives of the code were to ensure that Capital 
Investment Plans were affordable, prudent and sustainable.

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2018/19 TO 2022/23
111 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer which 
presented the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). The aim of 
the MTFS was to provide a robust, consistent and sustainable approach to 
establishing and maintaining a stable and prudent financial basis on which 
improvement and transformation of the Council’s services progress. The 
MTFS was a key strategic part of the plan of the Council setting out its 
proposed detailed spending plans for the next two years and making forecasts 
for future years, based on current information. 

The Committee was informed that the budgetary proposals contained in the 
MTFS had been widely consulted upon. The MTFS had been presented to the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consultative purposes, for 
further consideration at this Cabinet meeting and for determination at the 
Budget Council meeting on 28th February 2018.

Alternatives considered:
The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced revenue budget. The budget 
setting process is complex and is required to be undertaken in a planned way. 
Whilst budgets are prepared in accordance with the approved guidelines a 
number of alternative options relating to savings proposals and budget 
pressures are considered as part of the overall budget setting process.

Decision:
That the Council be recommended to approve the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.

Reasons for the recommendation:
The Cabinet is required to recommend a balanced Revenue Budget and 
Capital Programme for 2018/19 to the Budget Council meeting on 28th 
February 2018. The Council is required to set a balanced budget for 2018/19 
by no later than 11th March 2018. The Medium Term Financial Strategy thus 
provides a key part of the budget setting process. 

BUDGET 2018/19 - 2020/21 - LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003 
REQUIREMENTS
112 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer relating to 
statutory requirements under the Local Government Act 2003. It was a legal 
requirement for this report to be presented to the Budget Council meeting for 
consideration immediately prior to setting the Budget and Council Tax. The 
recommendations contained in the report aimed to ensure that Council was 

Page 7



aware of the opinion of the Chief Finance Officer regarding the robustness of 
the budget as proposed and the adequacy of general balances and reserves.

The Chief Finance Officer advised that in giving a positive opinion on the 
robustness of the estimate process reliance had been placed on the Council’s 
overall arrangements for financial management, which were detailed at 
Appendix 1 to the submitted report.  These included the rolling Medium Term 
Financial Strategy, the process for financial forecasts and developing medium 
term revenue and capital plans, the approach to financial risks and 
arrangements for in year monitoring of budgets.  Account is also taken of the 
assessment of the Council’s external auditors, Grant Thornton LLP, as part of 
the annual audit opinion. The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that, in her 
opinion, the Council had robust procedures in place.

Alternatives considered:
None - it is a statutory requirement, under the Local Government Act 2003, to 
submit this report.  

Decision:
That Cabinet recommends to Council:-

1. The approach to General balances as detailed within the report be 
adopted;

2. That the General Balances for 2018/19 be set at £17 million.

Reasons for the recommendation:
In order to comply with the Local Government Act 2003 the Chief Finance 
Officer is required to provide the Council with an opinion as to the robustness 
of the Budget being presented to its Budget setting meeting and to ensure the 
adequacy of general balances and reserves.

The Council is required to take account of this report when determining its 
budget.

REVENUE BUDGET,CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND COUNCIL TAX 2018/19
113 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer which 
recommended the Revenue Budget (District Purposes), Capital Budget and 
Council Tax for 2018/2019, for submission to the Budget Council meeting on 
28th February 2018 and which provided estimates for 2019/2020 and 
2020/2021.

The budget proposals contained in the submitted report had been formulated 
after taking into account the comments of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the four Township Committees and the various service 
consultative groups all of whom had been consulted on the proposals.

The report set out the key financial challenges and issues which will be faced 
over the period 2018/19 to 2020/21 and provides details of the assumptions 
and estimates which underpinned the budget. The budget also took account 
of the latest known developments both regional and at a local level and from 

Page 8



this year reports on the integration of health and social care within the pooled 
budget arrangements from 2018/19.

The Chief Finance Officer submitted an addendum to the submitted report, 
which detailed some amendments to the submitted report in respect of the 
final local government settlement, the final levies for the Greater Manchester 
Waste Disposal Authority and the Environment Agency (for flood defences) 
and the Mayoral general precept increase which had been amended to £8.

The Chief Finance Officer reported upon proposed changes to the capital 
budget that would, if approved, result in an additional £12 million investment in 
the Borough’s roads and pavements.
 
Alternatives considered:
None - The Chief Finance Officer reported that the Council had a legal 
requirement to set a balanced budget, and throughout the budget exercise a 
robust process has been put in place to consider alternative saving proposals 
and recognise risks.

Decision:
That the Cabinet recommends to Council:

1. Approval of the proposed revenue budgets, outlined at Appendix 1 of 
the submitted report, based on a budget requirement of £203.672m for 
2018/19;

2. That subject to confirmation of the Mayor of 
Greater Manchester precepts, the Cabinet recommends:

a) A Council Tax for district purposes of £1,521.43 for Band D 
properties (4.99% increase) for 2018/19.

b)  A Council Tax (including precepts) of £1,763.68 for Band D 
properties (5.52% increase), subject to confirmation of the Mayoral 
precepts for 2018/19.

3. To note the position in relation to Education Services Grant and 
Schools Funding and decisions regarding the any changes to the final 
allocations for the Dedicated Schools Grant be delegated to the 
Director of Children’s Services and the Chief Finance Officer in 
consultation with the Cabinet Members for Children’s Services and 
Corporate and Resources, to determine. 

4. To note the potential call on reserves of £4.2m, as detailed in 
paragraph 5.3 of the submitted report.

5. To consider and note the progress of the Integration of Health and 
Social Care services as set out at 5.2 of the submitted report, in 
particular, the operation of the Pooled Fund budget from 2018/19 for 
local authority and Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group services and the risks to the Council should the 
savings proposals not be achieved.

6. To approve a contribution to the Integrated Health and Social Care 
Pooled Fund budget of £102.887 million as detailed at Appendix 3 of 
the submitted report.

Page 9



7. To consider: (a) the proposed Capital Programmes for 2019/20 and 
2020/21, as detailed at Appendix 4 of the submitted report, to note that 
some of the assumed external funding included in the programme is 
still subject to clarification from the Government and in some cases 
may involve bids for funding.  It is therefore recommended that all 
approvals are subject to confirmation of funding allocations; (b) to 
approve the proposed changes to the Capital Programme shown at 
Table 14, detailed in the submitted report, following consultation; and 
(c) to approve a proposed change to the capital programme in relation 
to a commitment to invest in the Borough’s roads and pavements of 
£12 million. 

8. To approve that any new spending proposal requiring additional 
revenue and capital resources should only be considered during the 
financial year, in extreme circumstances as determined by the Budget 
and Policy Framework, noting that any proposals would need to be 
reported to the next available Council meeting in accordance with the 
Budget and Policy Framework.

a) To approve: (a) The Pay Policy Statement as detailed at Appendix 5 of 
the submitted report and (b) The publication of the Pay Policy Statement 
before 31st March 2018.

Reasons for the recommendation:
The Cabinet is required to consider and to recommend to the Budget Council 
meeting on 28th February a balanced Revenue Budget for 2018/19 and 
provisional budgets for 2019/20 to 2020/21 and a Council Tax increase for 
2018/19.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
114 Decision:
That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following item of business, in accordance with the provisions of Section 
100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.
 
Reason for Decision:
Should the press and public remain during debate on this item there may be 
the disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

EXTRA CARE SCHEME, CENTRAL CORE SITE, LANGLEY, MIDDLETON
115 The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods 
which detailed discussions that had been held between the Council and a 
Housing Association, the Riverside Group regarding the development of an 
Extra Care Scheme in Langley, Middleton that had been ongoing since 2013. 

Alternatives considered:
None reported.

Decision:
1. The Cabinet authorises the Council to enter into a legal agreement, in 

the form of a Memorandum of Assurance, with the Riverside Group, to 

Page 10



guarantee the potential annual shortfall of £181,565 per year, for a 
maximum 5 year period totalling £907,825.

2. That any shortfall, if required, is underwritten and allocated from the 
Council’s Affordable Housing Fund.

3. Authority be delegated to the Director of Neighbourhoods, in 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, the Head of Legal Services 
and the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Environment to finalise and 
sign the final Memorandum of Assurance, as the Council’s nominated 
representative in this matter.

Reasons for the decision:
Without the legal agreement in place and the assurance of underwriting from 
the Council, the Riverside Group considered it too much of a risk to invest 
money and resources into a scheme of such scale.  In addition the Cabinet 
was advised that several similar supported schemes, across the country, were 
stalled, due to the high level of risk, with only a handful going forward which 
had received similar underwriting offers from the relevant Local Authorities.

Without the Council’s assurance, the reported investment from both the 
Riverside Group and the Homes and Communities Agency would not be 
received and the scheme will not go ahead, thus the Council would not benefit 
from the opportunity to earn additional income. 

Page 11



CABINET

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday 27th February 2018

PRESENT:  Councillor Brett (Chair); Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed, Daalat Ali, 
Blundell, Emsley, Heakin, O'Rourke and Rowbotham

OFFICERS:  Steve Rumbelow (Chief Executive), Neil Thornton (Director of 
Resources), Gail Hopper (Director of Children’s Services), Sally McIvor 
(Director of Commissioning (DASS) RBC/CCG), Victoria Bradshaw (Chief 
Finance Officer), Andrea Fallon (Director of Public Health and Wellbeing), 
Donna Bowler (Assistant Director – Place), Danny Brierley (Head of 
Communications), Nathan McKendrey (Neighbourhoods Directorate) and 
Alison James (Resources Directorate)

APOLOGIES
116 Apologies were received from Councillor Neil Emmott.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
117 There were no declarations of interest.

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
118 There were no urgent items of business.

ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
119 There were no additional private items of business to those already 
listed on the Agenda.

OBJECTIONS TO TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER - MANCHESTER OLD 
ROAD, MIDDLETON
120 Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods which 
presented objections to a proposed Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) on 
Manchester Old Road, Middleton.  The report had previously been considered 
by the Middleton Township Committee but as the proposed TRO related to a 
strategic road, in accordance the Scheme of Delegation to Township 
Committees, the matter must be referred to Cabinet for a final decision.

In considering the submitted report, an email outlining objections from Mr and 
Mrs S and B Slattery was circulated for consideration as they had been 
unable to attend the meeting in person.

Alternatives considered:

Cabinet could decide to implement the order as advertised, as amended, or 
abandoned in light of the representations received.

Page 12



Decision:

That the proposed Traffic Regulation Order, Borough of Rochdale ((Civil 
Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions) (Various Streets) (Middleton 
Township) Order 2008) (Amendment) (No.50) Order be implemented as 
amended.

Reason for decision:

The introduction of new parking restrictions formed part of the measures 
identified to help reduce the incidence and severity of injury accidents along 
Manchester Old Road. When the scheme was devised, the predicted accident 
savings were 9.09 over 5 years. The calculations assumed the introduction of 
the proposed restrictions. Therefore, if the restrictions were not introduced it 
was assumed that the forecasted accident savings would be reduced.

Manchester Old Road was a strategic road classified as the A 576. It carried 
an average of over 15,000 vehicles per day. Its primary function was to carry 
traffic from North Manchester to Middleton and vice versa. The Council was 
responsible for the road both in terms of traffic flows and road safety but had 
no duty in respect of the provision of on-street parking for residents.

Eligible for call in - yes

ASHWORTH ROAD LANDSLIDE
121 Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods which 
sought approval of funding from the insurance reserve to enable works to 
proceed to support and reconstruct a length of Ashworth Road affected by a 
landslide.

Alternatives considered:

A detailed options appraisal report for the repair of the length of road was 
appended to the submitted report which outlined the costs, duration and the 
merits of each option. Four options were put forward for consideration - 
gabion retaining wall, mini piled reinforced concrete slab, pre-cast concrete 
retaining wall and pre-cast concrete retaining wall with masonry facing.

Decision:

That Option 3: Pre-Cast Concrete Blocks with Structural Fill and a 
comprehensive drainage system along the affected length of Ashworth Road 
(250m) be approved and that £432,000 be allocated from the Insurance 
Reserve Budget to complete the works.

Reason for decision:

Option 3 offered a long term solution (120 year design life) that provided 
support to the collapsed section of highway and the proposed drainage 
system would channel water away from the steep embankment.

Page 13



 
The solution provided the shortest construction time on site, thereby enabling 
Ashworth Road to be reopened as soon as possible.

Eligible for call in - yes

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
122 Decision:

That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following item of business, in accordance with the provisions of Section 
100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

Reason for Decision:

Should the press and public remain during debate on these items there may 
be a disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Parts 1 and 
4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

TRANSFER OF MANAGEMENT OF HOLLINGWORTH LAKE TO L4L 
CULTURAL AND LEISURE TRUST
123 Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods that 
requested consideration of the transfer of management of Hollingworth Lake 
Country Park (HLCP) to Link4Life Culture and Leisure Trust (L4L).

Alternatives considered:

An alternative would be that the management of Hollingworth Lake Country 
Park (HLCP) remained with the Council. This would mean that the 
management of HLCP would continue to be dis-jointed and could affect the 
delivery of the overall long-term vision for the HLCP and reducing resources.  

Decision:

1. That the transfer of the management of Hollingworth Lake Country 
Park (HLCP) to Link4Life (L4L)  for a trial period of 18 months from 1st 
April 2018 be approved;

2. That an allocation of £90k from budget pressures for funding increased 
costs during the trial period as detailed in section 5 of the report be 
approved;

3. That an allocation of up to £123k from the Asset Management Group 
(AMG) planned maintenance capital budget to undertake all Priority 1 
works where the Council is responsible and the upgrade of the toilets 
during 2018/19, as set out in the table in section 4 of the report be 
approved and that a further report on the impact of this be submitted to 
Members in due course;

Page 14



4. That the final detail of the Cost Plus Fixed Agreement, Operational 
Scope of Works, agreed budget and Heads of Terms for the 
management of HLCP be delegated to the Director of Neighbourhoods 
and the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council and Portfolio Holder for Corporate and Resources, the Portfolio 
Holder for Housing and Environment and the Portfolio Holder for 
Neighbourhoods, Community & Culture.

Reason for decision:

It is the aspiration of both the Council and Link4Life (L4L) that the running of 
Hollingworth Lake Country Park (HLCP) will transfer to Link4Life. In 
transferring HLCP to L4L it is expected that L4L in addition to delivering the 
services currently operated by the Council in managing the lake and country 
park that L4L will seek investment to improve and regenerate the area. 

Eligible for call in - yes

Page 15



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 27th March 2018
Portfolio Councillor Brett Leader 

and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate & Resources

Report Author Julie Murphy
Public/Private Document Public

Finance Update Report 2017/18

Executive Summary

1.1 To inform Cabinet and Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee of the 
Council’s financial position as at the end of January 2018.

1.2 The Finance Update Report contains detail of the following:
 The forecast Revenue position is an in-year saving of £1.393m.
 Forecast Capital spend is £71.127m. Re-phasing of £2.162m has been 

approved by the Chief Finance Officer.
 The forecast Collection Fund Position for 2017/18 is a surplus of 

£2.956m, comprising:
o £1.420m surplus relating to Business Rates;
o £1.536m surplus relating to Council Tax.

1.3 Effective financial management is essential if the Council is to keep spending 
within available resources. It is vital that services make adjustments in 
spending to ensure that they spend in line with the approved budget.

Recommendation

2.1 Note the 2017/18 Budget position for Capital, Revenue, Savings & the 
Collection Fund as at the end of January 2018.

2.2 Note the additional capital grant detailed in 4.1.1

Reason for Recommendation

3.1. Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the 
authority, as effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial 
resources are spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early identification of variations 
against the plan and facilitates timely corrective action.

This report provides an overview of the Financial Position for the Council and 
focuses on the position as at the end of January 2018.  The final position will 
be reported at May 2018 Cabinet.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1 Capital Budget 2017/18

The 2017/18 Current Capital Budget is £72.077m.  Table 1 below shows an 
overview of the movements:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
£m £m £m

CAPITAL BUDGET REPORTED AT 
JANUARY 2018 CABINET 73.061 49.812 22.394
Other Budget Changes identified at the end of 
January 2018 0.228 0.000 0.000

Rephasing identified to the end of January 
2018 (2.162) 2.162 0.000

CAPITAL BUDGET JANUARY 2018 71.127 51.974 22.394

4.1.1 Capital Budget Adjustments

Details of the Budget increases are listed below:

 Adult Care, £0.228m – Additional Disabled Facilities Grant received.

4.1.2 Capital Rephasing into 2018/19

The Chief Finance Officer has approved £2.162m of re-phasing. Below is a 
summary by Directorate:

Directorate
P10, 2017/18 

rephasing
 £k
Adults 783
Economy 1,060
Neighbourhoods 325
Public Health (6)
Total 2,162

Page 17



4.2. Revenue Budget 2017/18

4.2.1. The budget set by Budget Council on 1st March 2017 was £196.031m. This 
has been increased to £201.085m as set out below:

Budget Changes

Approved by When Reason for change Amount (£m)
Budget Council Mar-17 Approved budget 196.031
Cabinet Apr-17 Increase in Better Care Fund 5.168
Cabinet Jun-17 Adjustment to Education Support Grant -0.373
Cabinet Jul-17 Section 31 Discretionary Funding for Business Rates Relief 0.259
GRAND TOTAL 201.085

4.2.2 The overall position taking account of the projections currently being forecast 
by services as at the end of January 2018 is an in-year saving of £1.393m.

4.2.3 Budget Pressures

The Budget Pressure Fund for 2017/18 is £0.344m (£0.159m ongoing and 
£0.185m one off). No requests for funding have been made to the end of 
January 2018:

4.3     Collection Fund

4.3.1 The forecast Collection Fund Position for 2017/18 is a surplus of £2.956m, 
comprising:
 £1.420m surplus relating to Business Rates;
 £1.536m surplus relating to Council Tax.

4.3.2 The Collection Fund Update table in Appendix A shows the forecast surplus 
position on the Collection Fund as at 31st March 2018, and the allocation of 
the closing surplus between precepting authorities.

4.3.3 The Council’s share of the forecast Collection Fund surplus as at 31st March 
2018 is £2.760m. 

The Council’s 2018/19  General Fund budget set at Budget Council in 
February 2018 included an estimated 2017/18 Collection Fund surplus of 
£2.203m. The difference between this estimate and the Council’s share of the 
actual 2017/18 outturn will be held in the Collection Fund for 2018/19.

4.3.4 The main areas of overall variance to the budget are:      
Business Rates, £1.417m - Forecast increased Business Rates gross 
income, and lower levels of rate relief given, particularly relating to Empty 
Property relief.
Council Tax:

 £0.902m - Forecast reduced level of Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme discount/ Hardship Relief given; 

 £0.579m - Forecast reduced charge relating to the Bad Debt 
provision.

Page 18



4.4 Alternatives considered

4.4.1 Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is 
critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the budget and 
are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early 
identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective 
action.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. See appendix A which provides an overview of budgets for Capital, Revenue 
and The Collection Fund detailed in section 4.

Risk and Policy Implications

6. There are no major legal implications arising as a result of this report except to 
note that debts that are recoverable can be enforced by court action in 
accordance with the court procedure rules.

Consultation

7. All services engage with the production of the service based financial 
information within this report. The Leadership Team, Cabinet Member for 
Corporate & Resources, and opposition Portfolio holder for Finance have been 
informed of the 2017/18 financial position of the Council and its implications for 
future years. The report will be presented to Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
on 18th July 2018.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. For further information about this 
report or access to any 
background papers contact Stuart 
Smith

No1 Riverside Floor 2 

For Further Information Contact: Stuart Smith, 
Stuart.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk 
Tel : 01706 924196

Page 19

mailto:Stuart.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk


FINANCE SERVICES

P10 2017/18 Finance Update Summary
Revenue Summary

Collection Fund Summary

Savings Summary Capital Summary

Capital Receipts Summary

Revenue Key Movements/Variances
Children's Services

(£951k) - pressures with regards to looked after children and special education needs (SEN) home to school transport
With the increase in pupils with SEN alongside pupils who have to travel further to appropriate specialist provision the

in-year savings achieved to date have been exceeded by the demand led pressures.

Economy
(£413k) - The service is forecasting a shortfall in income on Building Control and Development Control . Additional

costs have been incurred due to long-term staff absences (nd the Service is forecasting to under achieve income
regarding time charged out.

Neighbourhoods
(£129k) - the pressure predominantly relates to the Facilities Management and Environmental areas of Directorate.

Public Health and Wellbeing
£83k - due to a combination of staffing savings, mainly as a result of staff turnover.

Resources
£893k- due to a combination of staffing savings; mainly as a result of staff turnover and an increase in external grant

income to the service.

Finance Control
£2,052k - in- year saving associated with no additional borrowing to January and lower than forecast interest rates.

£1,058k of this relates to additional dividend from Manchester Airport.

Of the £29m forecasted still to be spent, £7.6m will be funded by Prudential Borrowing; the Revenue impact of this is
approximately £0.5m.

Total
% £'000 % £'000 £'000

Forecast Collection Fund surplus at 31/03/18 (1,420) (1,536) (2,956)

Preceptors' Share of 2017/18 forecast outturn

Rochdale BC 99 (1,428) 86.70 (1,332) (2,760)

Greater Manchester Combined Authority - Police 
& Crime Commissioner - - 9.71 (149) (149)

Greater Manchester Combined Authority - Fire 
and Rescue Authority 1 (14) 3.59 (55) (69)

Central Government (pre 2017/18 adjustment only) - 22 - - 22

Total forecast surplus 100 (1,420) 100 (1,536) (2,956)

Business Rates Council Tax

The forecast Collection Fund Position for 2017/18 is a surplus of £2.956m, comprising:
- £1.420m surplus relating to Business Rates;
- £1.536m surplus relating to Council Tax.
The Council’s share of the forecast Collection Fund surplus as at 31st March 2018 is £2.760m.

The main areas of overall variance to the budget are:
Business Rates :

£1.417m - Forecast increased Business Rates gross income, and lower levels of rate relief given, particularly
relating to Empty Property relief.
Council Tax:
£0.902m - Forecast reduced level of Local Council Tax Support Scheme discount/ Hardship Relief given;
£0.579m - Forecast reduced charge relating to the Bad Debt provision.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

£m £m £m
Capital Receipts balance as at 1st April 2017 9.931 4.128 2.933
Use of Capital Receipts to fund 2017/18 Capital Programme, including prior year 
schemes rephased into 2017/18 (5.577) -              -              
Use of Capital Receipts to fund provisional 2018/19  and 2019/20 Capital Programmes, 
and 2017/18 rephasing into future years -                  (3.854) (3.310)

Earmarked use of receipts to fund other future commitments (3.453) (0.018) (0.022)
Forecast Capital Receipts income 3.227 2.678 0.795
Forecast uncommitted Capital Receipts balance as at 31st March 2018 4.128 2.933 0.396

Description

Adults Children's Economy Neighbourhoods P Health Resources TOTAL
Actual Spend to Date 1,303               5,392                  21,478               13,539                 190               15                        41,916        
Re-phased to Date 300                   9,269                  6,099                  1,313                    16                 -                      16,997        
Re-phase requested 783                   -                      1,060                  325                       (6) -                      2,162          
Under / Overspend -                   550                     257                     807            
Forecasted Spend 2,373               5,862                  13,297               7,364                    87                 0                          28,983        

Approved Budget @ 
July Cabinet

4,760            21,073            42,190            22,541              287            15                  90,865        

Directorate/ Detail
Budget 
Council

Virements/
Contingency Current Budget

Service and 
Corporate 

Uncontrollables

Current 
Controllable
Approved 

Net 
Budget

Forecast Spend 
at 

period end

Forecast
In Year Saving/

(Overspend)

Previous 
Monitoring 

Report
Movement Since 

Last Report

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000

Adult Care 54,777 4,749 59,526 4,195 55,331 55,331 0 0 0
Children's 57,520 (494) 57,026 19,836 37,190 38,141 (951) (853) (98)
Economy 10,923 122 11,045 681 10,364 10,777 (413) (315) (98)
Neighbourhoods 54,168 2,207 56,375 1,045 55,330 55,459 (129) (232) 103
Public Health and Wellbeing 22,215 565 22,780 2,261 20,519 20,436 83 0 83
Resources 5,562 613 6,175 (3,952) 10,127 9,234 893 791 102
TOTAL SERVICE SPENDING 205,165 7,762 212,927 24,066 188,861 189,378 (517) (609) 92

Finance Control: Corporately Held Budgets (10,581) (2,616) (13,197) (21,160) 7,963 5,911 2,052 2,002 50
Finance Control: Transformation Fund 1,250 (239) 1,011 0 1,011 1,011 0 0 0
Finance Control: Budget Pressures 197 147 344 0 344 344 0 0 0
TOTAL FINANCE CONTROL SPENDING (9,134) (2,708) (11,842) (21,160) 9,318 7,266 2,052 2,002 50

NET EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS 196,031 5,054 201,085 2,906 198,179 196,644 1,535 1,393 142

P
age 20



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting March 2018
Portfolio Councillor Daalat Ali

Cabinet Member for 
Planning & Development

Report Author Paul Moore 
Head of Planning Services

Public/Private Document Public

Planning Services: Planning Performance Agreements 

Executive Summary

1. To delegate power from Cabinet to the Assistant Executive Director for 
Economy and Planning and Head of Planning Services to allow the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) to enter into Planning Performance Agreements 
(PPA’s). 

PPA’s are an important tool for the LPA and provide a framework by which the 
LPA and developers can consider and assess major development proposals 
outside of standard timescales for decision making.  Crucially, they help to 
support the delivery of a high quality planning service to developers and 
investors whilst allowing the LPA to secure additional fee income through 
discretionary charges to assist with cost recovery.    

Recommendation

2. That the Assistant Director for Planning and Economy and the Head of 
Planning Services be authorised to:

 Formally enter into ‘Planning Performance Agreements’; 
 To agree any subsequent variations or amendments to an approved 

Planning Performance Agreement;
 Secure bespoke fees associated with any PPA;

Reason for Recommendation

3. At the present moment in time, authority to enter into a PPA rests with 
Cabinet.  In order to expedite the use of PPA’s with developers, and to assist 
with supporting planned growth and investment, it is necessary for these 
powers to be delegated to the Assistant Director for Planning and Economy 
and the Head of Planning Services rather than requiring a cabinet report each 
and every time a PPA is required.

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

PPA’s are an important tool for the LPA and provide a framework by which the 
LPA and developers can consider and assess major development proposals 
outside of standard timescales for decision making.  

Crucially, this approach can help to support the delivery of a high quality 
planning service to developers and investors whilst also allowing the LPA to 
secure additional fee income under S93 of the Local Authorities Act 2003 
through discretionary charges to support cost recovery.

The nature of PPA’s can vary from a simple agreement to cover an agreed set 
of milestones for the determination of a planning application through to more 
complex agreements for the largest and most complex development proposal 
where, for example, it would extend to cover the life of the project from pre-
application stage through to the point at which conditions are discharged.  

Crucially, the use of a PPA can assist in providing greater certainty for a 
developer in respect of the decision timescales for their application and the 
processes which support that.

For that reason, the use of PPA’s are generally reserved for major 
development projects and sit as an additional discrete service over and above 
the existing chargeable ‘Pre-Application Advice Service’.  The fees associated 
with a bespoke PPA are therefore in addition to the pre-application advice 
charges and are negotiated on a case by case basis.   The fees associated 
with a PPA vary on a case by case basis but as a guide would normally be 
calculated on the basis of approximately 25% to 40% of the statutory planning 
fee.  In some instances, and on larger schemes, they might also extend to 
cover costs of staff time over the life of the project and costs associated with 
commissioning external consultancy advice.   

Finally, it is important to clarify the use of a PPA does not imply an obligation 
on the part of the council to approve the planning application for the proposal.

Alternatives Considered

There are two potential alternatives that have been considered.

The first would be to keep the delegations with Cabinet.  However this option 
is considered to hinder the ability for the LPA to easily enter into PPAs with 
developers and would not support the delivery of an effective and efficient 
planning service.

The second would be to simply retain existing statutory arrangements as set 
out in The Town and Country (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 which provide the fall-back position for determination 
dates.  This approach however would not support the delivery of a high quality 
service to developers and investors and does not allow for cost recovery. 

Page 22



Costs and Budget Summary

5. The fee income generated through the use of a PPA would assist with cost 
recovery.  Contributions from this additional fee income would support 
financial savings the authority has made by way of increased fee income.  
Furthermore, the planning service has been asked to look at new ways of 
generating additional ways of securing new income with PPA’s presenting a 
major opportunity to do this.
  

Risk and Policy Implications

The use of PPA’s supports the delivery of an effective and efficient planning 
service and in turn supports growth and investment in the borough.  They 
also assist the council with making timely determination of planning 
applications and meeting government targets for performance.  

In terms of risk, any PPA is entered into on a voluntary basis and so the only 
real risk is a failure to determine the application within agreed timescales or 
failure to meet any key milestones within the PPA.  The worst case scenario 
is that this might trigger a refund request from the developer but this risk is 
present whether powers rest with Cabinet or delegated to officers.

Similarly, the use of a PPA does not replace the 26-week Planning 
Guarantee (refund of a planning application fee if not determined within 26-
weeks or an agreed timescale thereafter) and so this risk remains unchanged 
and would be managed in accordance with existing protocols. 

6.

The use of a PPA will place a greater emphasis on services who act as 
consultees to perform and meet the agreed milestones.

There may also be a risk that members of the public may see a PPA as an 
agreement to grant planning permission (as sometimes occurs with the pre-
application charging service); however, the use of a PPA does not imply an 
obligation on the part of the council to approve an application but merely sets 
out an agreed framework for dealing with a development proposal.

Consultation

7. No consultation is considered for this proposal.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Not Applicable Not Applicable

For Further Information Contact: Paul Moore, Head of Planning Services, 
Tel: 01706 924 329, 
paul.moore@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 23



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 21st March 2018
Portfolio Councillor Neil Emmott - 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing & Environment

Report Author Helen Bellis
Public / Private Document Public 

Housing Allocations

Executive Summary

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

The report outlines a proposal which enables the Council to meet the 
responsibility placed on it by the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act.   

The proposal is to move from a Choice Based Lettings approach to allocate 
accommodation, to making direct offers to those who are found to be 
homeless and the Council has a statutory duty to rehouse.

The report also advises that on occasions, it will be necessary for the Council 
to make an offer of accommodation in the private rented sector, in order to 
discharge its duty.

A future proposal to amend the Housing Allocations Policy later this year is 
also detailed within the report. 

Recommendation

2.1

2.2

2.3

Approve the proposed changes to the allocation of accommodation, for those 
applicants we have a statutory duty to rehouse.

Approve the proposal to discharge duty in private rented accommodation, 
where appropriate and necessary.

That delegated approval of future policy changes to the Council’s Housing 
Allocation Policy, be granted to the Director of Neighbourhoods in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Environment and the Council’s Chief 
Finance Officer.

Page 24

Agenda Item 8



Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.2

The proposed interim policy amendments will enable the Council to support 
those it has a statutory duty to rehouse, into appropriate accommodation in a 
more timely fashion and will aid the Council in meeting the responsibilities 
placed on the local authority by the Homelessness Reduction Act.

Delegation of authority would enable officers to monitor housing outcomes, as 
a result of the interim policy proposal and the following proposed new Housing 
Allocations Policy, and respond promptly to required policy changes.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

Interim Policy Proposal – Direct Offers 

The Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA) comes in to force in April 2018. In 
order to meet the requirements of the Act, the Council needs to amend its 
Housing Allocation Policy.

The proposal is to move away from Choice Based Lettings, whereby an 
applicant makes ‘bids’ on accommodation advertised on the HomeChoice 
website and move to direct offers of accommodation for those the Council has 
a statutory duty to rehouse. 

This means a reasonable offer will be made directly to the applicant. The offer 
will, as best is able, meet all their housing need requirements. The Housing 
Act 1996, and as amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act, requires the 
local authority to take into account the personal circumstances and  location of 
accommodation offered when determining its suitability; however the Council 
does have scope to make the offer anywhere within the borough.

Within the current scheme and policy all applicants use Choice Based Lettings 
to access accommodation, by ‘bidding’ on properties they wish to be 
considered for. However, Homelessness officers tend to do this for applicants 
they are working with, considering their options and available accommodation; 
therefore, there will be very little visible difference to the applicants to which 
the proposal will apply.

Rationale for Amendment

The Council expects to see a significant increase in people presenting as 
homeless and the HRA places more responsibility on the local authority in 
relation to homelessness prevention.

Moving people on from temporary accommodation in to secure tenancies will 
be a crucial factor in managing the challenges the HRA will bring, as there will 
be increased demand on this type of accommodation.

Page 25



4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

The direct offer approach is a much more managed approach to accessing 
accommodation and will support those who are more vulnerable and who may 
struggle to navigate the Choice Based Lettings approach.

The proposed policy change formalises what is currently happening on the 
front line and gives the Council the flexibility it requires, whilst also ensuring 
the Council is not open to legal challenge.
 
Interim Policy Proposal – Private Rented Sector Offers 

Section 193 of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) 
allows local authorities to end the full housing duty by making a ‘private rented 
sector offer’. The offer must be of an assured shorthold tenancy with a 
minimum fixed term of one year.

With the anticipated increase in people presenting as homeless, it may be 
necessary in some instances, to discharge duty in to the private rented sector.

Rationale for Amendment

The Council faces a challenge to meet the responsibilities placed upon it by 
the Homelessness Reduction Act and this approach would relieve some of the 
pressure. 

The Council already finds it difficult to access accommodation to meet need 
and this approach will not only increase options, but will enable the Council to 
rehouse people in areas where there may be limited access to social housing 
stock, or to larger properties when required, that may not be available via the 
social housing route.

As mentioned previously, demand on temporary accommodation will 
significantly rise under the HRA and this approach will enable the Council to 
move people on in to secure accommodation, in a timely fashion which is 
more preferable and beneficial for those living in temporary accommodation.

It enables officers to make best use of rented accommodation available across 
all sectors within the borough; as in some wards there are more private rented 
properties than social housing stock and a greater number of larger homes.

Legislation enables the local authority to take this approach if necessary and it 
is already being undertaken in other local authority areas.

Future changes to the Housing Allocations Policy

The Council is in the process of reviewing its Allocations Policy and Housing 
Scheme. Amendments to the policy will be addressing issues in relation to a 
rise in applicants from outside of the borough, recognising those who 
contribute positively to the borough and ensuring those who the Council has a 
statutory duty to rehouse have the best opportunity to access accommodation.

Page 26



4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

Potential amendments which are being considered include the following:

 a residency test, whereby applicants who have lived consistently in the 
borough, for 2 or more years, will be given priority over those who have 
not;

 a minimum of 50% of available accommodation will be advertised solely 
for those in housing need and will not be available to be bid on by 
applicants without a need;

 priority for those who can evidence a ‘community contribution’ to the 
borough - working or volunteering;

 remove the current ‘child at height’ policy, whereby applicants with 
children under the age of 10  will not be offered accommodation within 
a scheme where there are 3 or more floors, and where there is no lift;

 increase the amount of arrears an applicant may have and will still 
accepted on to the Council’s Housing Scheme, however applicants will 
be expected to enter in to a repayment plan before being offered 
accommodation;

 the introduction a Housing Panel, which looks at complex cases and 
works towards a solution to access accommodation for the borough’s 
most vulnerable applicants; and

 housing priority being awarded for a maximum of 12 months and 
limiting the number of offers applicants refuse, before action is taken.

Rationale For Considerations

The housing climate is constantly shifting along with need and demand, and 
the Council needs to ensure its Allocation Policy and Housing Scheme is fit for 
purpose.

The Council has seen an increase in out of borough applicants and from 
applicants who have spent very little time living here, and wants to ensure 
those who have lived in the borough for some time and are contributing 
positively are recognised and given priority. 

Increasingly applicants to the Council’s Housing Scheme are in arrears. An 
amendment to the current policy would enable applicants with a higher 
amount of arrears to be registered for rehousing, rather than being found 
ineligible. However the proposal being considered is that applicants with 
arrears will need to enter in to a repayment plan to address the arrears and 
prove a track record of repayment before being offered accommodation.

Many applicants are bidding on accommodation which they then refuse. This 
is causing a significant workload and delays in offering accommodation to 
applicants who are bidding with sincerity. 

Page 27



4.22

4.23

4.24

4.25

4.26

Awarding priority for 12 months will also encourage applicants to be realistic 
about their housing options and consider what accommodation is truly 
available to them in the areas of their choice, via the social housing route. 
There is a mismatch in need and accommodation type in some areas of the 
borough and in some cases, applicants would be better to consider private 
rented accommodation to alleviate their housing need.

Delegated Authority 
 
The new future policy and the HRA will see the Council moving in to 
unchartered waters and officers within Strategic Housing, would like the 
comfort of knowing that amendments can be made quickly, to address any 
issues arising and to ensure the desired outcomes from the amendments are 
achieved.

However, once the future policy has been finalised and approved, a report 
detailing the final amendments will be submitted to members for information 
purposes.  

Alternatives Considered

No alternatives have been considered, as the Council will be unable to meet 
the challenges of the HRA if it continues to use the current policy. 

RBH deliver both the Housing Allocations service and the Homelessness 
Service on behalf of the Council. The proposed changes will be reflected in 
the updated service specification/contract.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 There are no cost / budget implications in relation to this report.

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

The Council needs to amend the way it offers accommodation to those it has 
a statutory duty to and also needs to consider using private rented 
accommodation where necessary. 

If the Council doesn’t take this approach, it is unlikely to manage the 
challenge placed upon it by the responsibilities of the HRA.

Equally, if the Council proceeded with direct offers and used private rented 
accommodation to discharge duty without the proposed policy changes, then 
it would be at risk of legal challenge.

Please find below a summary of the new Homelessness Reduction Act 
statutory duties:

Page 28



 It extends the period an applicant is “threatened with homelessness”:
 It extends the period that someone can be threatened with

homelessness from 28 to 56 days, enabling earlier application/ 
approach.

 A strengthened advice and information duty: clarifies the duty on 
authorities to provide advisory services to help to prevent 
homelessness.

 A new duty to assess housing need and agree a personalised housing 
plan: Requires authorities to carry out a housing options assessment 
for eligible applicants, homeless or threatened with homelessness 
within 56 days. 

 This assessment informs a personal housing plan with identified steps 
needed by the applicant and the authority to secure housing/prevent 
homelessness.

 A new ‘prevention’ duty in cases of threatened homelessness requires 
local authorities to help ensure that suitable accommodation does not 
cease to be available for applicants who are threatened with 
homelessness, regardless of priority need, for 56 days.

 Should an applicant not be compliant with their personalised housing 
plan then the authority can discharge its duty towards them.

 A new ‘relief’ duty: following the 56 day prevention duty, a new ‘relief’ 
duty requires local authorities to help applicants to secure 
accommodation (for another 56 days) for all applicants who the 
authority is satisfied are homeless and eligible for assistance.

 Following this new ‘relief’ duty (after the 56 days) the existing statutory 
homelessness application process commences with investigations into 
priority need, intentionality and (where appropriate) local connection.

 There will also be a new duty on public services to notify a local 
housing authority if they come into contact with someone they think 
may be homeless or at risk of becoming homeless: It is hoped that this 
measure will ensure that a person’s housing situation is considered 
when they come into contact with wider public services, and 
encourage public services to build strong relationships based on local 
need and circumstances.

 Each of the above new duties carries with it a number of opportunities 
for the applicant to request a review of the decision made/process 
carried out. 

 The HRA provides a new statutory basis for the homeless prevention 
work and also places a duty on applicants to cooperate with the 
Council which ought to assist in resolving applicants’ homelessness 
issues, and an applicant’s failure to cooperate will terminate the 
Council’s duty. There is also a new express duty placed on public 
services to notify a local housing authority of individuals they believe 
to be homeless or at risk of becoming homeless.

 The staffing and resourcing of the service to deal with the new duties 
will no doubt be the subject of a separate report once the Council’s 
requirements become clear.

 The new policy is required to be compliant with the Equality Act to 

Page 29



prevent discrimination against those with proected characteristics 
under the Act.   

Consultation

7.1

7.2

No formal consultation has taken place; however consultation with officers in 
the Homeless Team has been undertaken. 

Statutory consultation will be undertaken on the new draft allocation policy 
later this year.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. N/A

For Further Information Contact: Helen Bellis, Tel: 01706 924460, 
helen.bellis@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 30



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 27th March 2018
Portfolio Councillor Brett, Leader of 

the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Corporate & 
Resources

Report Author Rosemary Barker
Public/Private Document Public

Gender Pay Gap

Executive Summary

1. This report provides Members of Cabinet with details of the Gender Pay Gap, 
and recommends that Cabinet approve the publication of the information in 
line with our statutory obligations.  

Recommendation

2. Consider the Council’s position with regards to the Gender Pay Gap, and 
approve its publication on the Council’s and Government’s websites.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Council is legally required to publish gender pay gap information relating 
to our employees no later than 30th March 2018.

Key Points for Consideration

4. Background

4.1 The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 
2017 were effective from 9th March 2017. As part of the existing Public Sector 
Equality Duty these imposed a specific duty of Gender Pay Gap (GPG) 
reporting requirements on Public Authorities.

4.2 As a public authority Rochdale Borough Council is required to publish gender 
pay gap information relating to our employees who are employed by us on the 
relevant snapshot date identified as 31st March 2017.

4.3 Each local authority must publish information to demonstrate compliance with 
the period 12 months beginning with the snapshot date of 31st March 2017, to 
be published no later than 30th March 2018. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



4.4 The information is to be repeated at yearly intervals thereafter on the same 
snapshot date of 31st March within that relevant year.

4.5 The Council is required to publish:-

(a) The difference in the mean pay of full-pay male and female employees 
expressed as a percentage.

(b) The difference in the median pay of full-pay male and female 
employees expressed as a percentage.

(c) The proportions number of male and female full-pay relevant 
employees employed in the lower, lower middle, upper middle and 
upper quartile pay bands.

(d) Differences in bonus pay*
(e) The information on our website to be accessible to all employees and 

the public for at least 3 years from the date of publication and to upload 
on the dedicated government website.

* this is not applicable to us as bonus was removed as part of the Pay & Grading 
Review process in 2010.

5. Gender Pay Gap Information

5.1 Attached at Appendix 1, is the information that the Council is required to 
publish by 30th March 2018. This includes the GPG breakdown for Rochdale 
Borough Council as at 31st March 2017 and the methodology used. 

5.2 The calculations show Rochdale Borough Council’s overall mean and median 
gender pay gap based on hourly rates, plus quartile data which are:-

(a) Overall percentage difference in mean hourly rate between male and 
female employees has been calculated as:-

(£12.98 - £12.45) x 100 = 4.08% mean GPG (females; 53p/hr lower)
£12.98

(b) Overall percentage difference in median hourly rate between male and 
female employees has been calculated as:-

(£10.91 - £10.75) x 100 = 1.47% median GPG (females; 16p/hr lower)
     £10.91

5.3 Our proportion of male and female employees according to quartile pay bands 
are:-

Quartile Male Female % Male % Female
Highest 293 513 36 64
Upper Middle 223 583 28 72
Lower Middle 238 568 29 71
Lowest 252 555 31 69
Total 1006 2219 31 69

Page 32



From this it can be seen that females are the highest proportion across the 
four equally sized quartiles.

5.4 Our comparative position within AGMA is below.

Local Authority Mean 
GPG

Median 
GPG

Blackburn 0.66% -2.80%
Bolton 6% 10.70%
Bury 8.84% 7.73%
Manchester 9.08% 8.81%
Oldham 6.16% 8%
Rochdale 4.08% 1.47%
Salford 8.90% 14.10%
Stockport 2.80% 1.80%
Tameside 3.03% -5.81%
Trafford 10.70% 17%

5.5 From this it can be seen that Rochdale Borough Council’s position is good 
and is within the lowest quartile of comparators with regard to gender pay gap 
differentials.

5.6 It is considered that this is attributable to the ongoing efforts to eradicate pay 
inequalities since 2010 linked to the identification and removal of equal pay 
issues such as the removal of bonus payments and the implementation of job 
evaluation systems and new pay and grading structures.

5.7 The organisation also benefits in the highest quartile from the number of 
females in senior managerial roles, including at Senior Leadership level where 
11 of the 18 senior leaders are women.

5.8 In addition the Council has introduced a Rochdale Local Living Wage (RLLW) 
that has ensured that the hourly rates of the lowest paid employees in Grades 
1 and 2 (such as cleaners, catering assistants and bus escorts – all 
traditionally female dominated roles) have increased annually in line with the 
Rowntree Foundation recommendations. The RLLW is above the national 
minimum wage and national living wage amounts and from 1st April 2018 will 
be £8.75 per hour.

Alternatives Considered

As this is part of the Council’s statutory obligations, there are no other 
alternatives.

Costs and Budget Summary

6. There are no direct financial implications resulting from this report or its 
implementation. 

Page 33



Risk and Policy Implications

It is a legal requirement for all relevant employers to publish their gender pay 
gap information.  Failing to do so is unlawful, and the A failure to
comply would create a reputational risk for the Council. Equality and Human 
Rights Commission has the power to enforce any failure to comply with the 
regulations; the EHRC has produced a draft policy as to how they plan to 
enforce these regulations which can be found at the link below: – 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/closing-gap-
enforcing-gender-pay-gap-regulations 
  
In addition the Government has indicated its intention to publicly name those 
organisations that fail to comply with the legislation. so the Council would 
also run a reputational risk if it fails to publish this information.  

7.

Consultation

7. The Leadership Team and Cabinet Member for Corporate and Resources 
have been informed of the Councils position.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None N/A

For Further Information Contact: Rosemary Barker, 
rosemary.barker@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 34

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/closing-gap-enforcing-gender-pay-gap-regulations
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/closing-gap-enforcing-gender-pay-gap-regulations


Appendix 1

GENDER PAY GAP – ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL, 31ST MARCH 2017

Gender Pay Gap difference in hourly rate

Women’s hourly rate is:

4.08%
Lower
(mean)

1.47% 
Lower

(median)

Gender Split within each Pay Quartile

Top quartile

36.4% 63.6%

Men Female

Upper middle quartile

27.7% 72.3%

Men Female

Lower middle quartile 

29.5% 70.5%

Men Female

Lower quartile

31.2% 68.8%

Men Female

How many men and women are in each quarter of the payroll

Page 35



Calculation Methodology

1) Identification of Full Pay Relevant Employees (FPRE)

The table below shows full pay relevant employees as per the GPG definition. 
It excludes:-

 Schools
 External/Agency Workers
 57 employees who were on less than their full pay due to maternity 

leave, sick leave etc
 It includes 577 casual/seasonal workers who were employed on the 

snapshot reporting date

Gender Count Full-Time Part-Time
Female 2219 921 1298

Male 1006 666 340
Total 3225 1587 (49%) 1638 (51%)

2) Calculation of ordinary pay

Ordinary pay is basic pay; allowances; pay for leave. This doesn’t include 
overtime; redundancy; pay in lieu of notice.

The sum used was the amount paid before deductions at source (such as 
deductions for tax, NI, pension and salary sacrifice schemes).

3) Calculation of hourly rate of Pay

All amounts of ordinary pay paid to the employee during the relevant pay 
period was identified and any amount that would normally fall to be paid within 
a different pay period was excluded.

These have been added together, multiplied by 7 and divided by the number 
of days in the relevant pay period.

Not applicable to Rochdale Borough Council

Bonus Pay – 31/03/17

Women’s bonus pay is;
0%

Lower
(mean)

0%
Lower

(median)
Who received bonus pay;

0%
Of men

0%
Of women

Page 36



4) Calculation of Difference in the mean hourly rate of Pay 

The difference between the mean hourly rate of pay of male full-pay relevant 
employees and that of female full pay relevant employees must be expressed 
as a percentage of the mean hourly rate of pay of male full pay relevant 
employees and was determined as follows:-

(A-B) divided by A multiplied by 100

Where:-
A= Mean hourly rate of pay of all male full pay relevant employees, and
B = the mean hourly rate of pay of all female full pay relevant employees  

5) Calculation of Difference in the median hourly rate of pay

The difference between the median hourly rate of pay of male full-pay relevant 
employees and that of female full pay relevant employees must be expressed 
as a percentage of the median pay of male full pay relevant employees and 
was determined as follows:-

(A-B) divided by A multiplied by 100

Where:-
A= Median hourly rate of pay of all male full pay relevant employees, and
B = the Median hourly rate of pay of all female full pay relevant employees  

6) Proportion of male and female employees according to Quartile Pay 
Bands

The proportions of male and female full pay relevant employees in the lower; 
lower middle; upper middle; and upper quartile pay bands have been 
determined as follows:-

The hourly rate of pay for each full pay relevant employee was determined.
Those employees were then ranked in order from lowest to highest paid.
The ranked employees were divided into 4 sections each comprising of an 
equal number of employees, to determine the lower middle, upper middle, and 
upper quartile bands

The proportion of male full pay relevant employees within each quartile pay 
band must be expressed as a percentage of the full pay relevant employees 
within that band and was calculated as follows:-

A divided by B multiplied by 100

Where:-
A = number of male full pay relevant employees in a quartile pay band, and
B= number of full pay relevant employees in that quartile pay band

Page 37



The proportion of female full pay relevant employees within each quartile pay 
band must be expressed as a percentage of the full pay relevant employees 
within that band and was calculated as follows:-

A divided by B multiplied by 100

Where:-
A = number of female full pay relevant employees in a quartile pay band, and
B= number of full pay relevant employees in that quartile pay band

NB where employees receiving the same hourly rate of pay fall within more 
than one quartile pay band must ensure that when ranking the employees the 
relative proportion of male and female employees receiving that rate of pay is 
the same in each of those pay bands 

Page 38



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 27th March 2018
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Corporate & Resources

Report Author Rosemary Barker, Head of 
Workforce & OD

Public/Private Document Public

GM Wide Continuity of Service Protocol for the Recognition of Service between Local 
Authorities and Specified Employers Within Greater Manchester.

Executive Summary

1. 1.1   The purpose of this report is to provide details in relation to the GM Wide 
Continuity of Service Protocol for the recognition of service between Local 
Authorities and specified employers within Greater Manchester.

Recommendation

2. 2.1    To approve the adoption of the Protocol in principle and endorse the 
implementation arrangements agreed by GM Wider Leadership Team to enable 
the Protocol to be applied with effect from 1st April 2018.

2.2    Delegate authority to the Head of Workforce and OD, in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Corporate & Resources, to 
agree the final wording of the Protocol.

2.3   Consider that the Protocol does not relate to redundancy, and will be subject to 
any changes subsequently agreed by the Director of Governance and 
Pensions.

2.4    Request that the scheme be kept under review and regularly assessed on 
triannual basis and/or before any major staffing review, given that a financial 
analysis of the proposals has not yet been possible, it is also not possible to 
fully assess whether public law duties under best value, Wednesbury 
reasonableness or the fiduciary duty to the public purse have been met nor is it 
possible until there is evidence of demand and therefore important. 

Reason for Recommendation

3. 3.1   To present the GM Wide Continuity of Service Protocol for approval and to 
agree the implementation arrangements.

Key Points for Consideration

4. 4.1 In February 2015, the 37 NHS organisations and local authorities in Greater 
Manchester signed a landmark agreement with the Government to take 
responsibility for health and social care spending and decisions. 

4.2 In December 2015, the Greater Manchester Combined Authority and Health 
and Social Care Partnership Board agreed a GM Protocol for Joint Working on 

Page 39

Agenda Item 10



Workforce Matters.  This Protocol recognises the vital role of our workforce in 
delivering high quality public services and that quality employment in public 
services is crucial to the Greater Manchester economy and society. 

4.3  The Localism Act 2011 allows elected Mayors to focus on long-term strategic 
decisions, such as bringing together different agencies to make public services 
work better, and attracting jobs and investment to the city.  

 
4.4 Unless there is an enforced move across sectors (e.g. TUPE) this means that 

currently continuity of service is lost where an employee voluntarily moves from 
one public sector to another. Given that continuous service determines the 
qualification for, and value of employment related entitlements, including annual 
leave, occupational sick pay, and occupational maternity pay, this is a key 
factor which may impede the flexibility of employment. There are no regulations 
that allow for service to be recognised for voluntary moves across the different 
areas of the public sector.  

4.5   The concept and possibility of voluntarily recognising continuous service across 
the GM NHS, Council and GMCA organisations has been discussed and 
agreed.  The Continuity of Service Protocol is attached at Appendix 1.

4.6 The Protocol extends to include all staff employed by:
 a GM CCG organisation
 a GM NHS body
 a GM Council (but excluding staff employed by schools)
 GM Combined Authority and its constituent bodies
 Greater Manchester Health & Social Care Partnership
 Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) 

4.7  At this time those employed within GM Police and the Waste Disposal Authority 
are not in scope.  However, once these organisations formally join the 
Combined Authority, they will be automatically included, unless they choose to 
adopt the Protocol earlier.  Wider employer groups comprising commissioned 
providers e.g. third sector parties, GP practices, etc, are not included. Whilst it 
is not recommended that individuals working within the range of schools and 
further education establishments across GM are currently included within the 
Protocol, there is a commitment to further extend the Protocol.     

4.8 It is important to clarify that the aim of the Protocol is not to change terms and 
conditions of service for each individual organisation in scope; all flexibilities 
which currently exist with regard to local agreements, employment benefits and 
terms and conditions will be retained.  

4.9  The Councils policies which refer to continuity of service will need to be revised 
to ensure that they reflect the Protocol and enable accrued service to be used 
for the calculation of contractual entitlement. The terms and conditions of 
employment which will be based upon continuous service are as follows;

 Annual Leave – additional annual leave will be applied after 5 years not 10 
years although the number of additional days is likely to be less

 Occupational Sick Pay - no significant difference between sickness schemes 
simply provides for continuity of accrual for calculation of entitlement.

 Occupational Maternity Pay - the Council`s entitlement is likely to be 
significantly less and will go some way to offsetting any additional accrual 
which arises from the continuity of service.

 The Protocol does not apply to Redundancy.
 The Protocol does not apply to Pension arrangements.

Page 40



 4.10 The Council will need to consider amending its policies in respect of application 
of the 2006 Discretionary Compensation Regulations, to incorporate 
recognition of continuous service with NHS bodies and Public Health England.  
Reference to the protocol will also need to be included in the annual Pay Policy 
Statement.   

Alternatives considered

The GM Wider Leadership Team considered a range of alternatives before arriving at 
the recommendations above.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. 5.1    The extension of continuity of service across the public sector in Greater 
Manchester will inevitably increase the costs for organisations in relation to 
severance pay and greater annual leave and sickness allowance.  It is 
impossible to assess the impact of this against the benefits of a more agile 
workforce, whereby the workforce will have more incentive to change employer 
because they can take their continuity of service to a new employer.  The 
impact should be monitored if the scheme is approved.  Evidence from existing 
schemes suggests that the financial impact is not likely to be material.

5.2 The recognition of previous continuous service for the purposes of claiming 
unfair dismissal cannot be included in the protocol as it is a statutory 
entitlement. Similarly the Protocol will not enable an employee to meet the 
minimum statutory requirement of 2 years continuous service earlier for the 
purposes of statutory redundancy pay.

Risk and Policy Implications

6. 6.1 In the event that not all GM organisations adopt the Protocol, this is likely to 
result in an imbalance of approach between the GM public sector 
organisations.  Whilst this may lead to this organisation becoming an 
employer of choice over other neighbouring organisations, this inconsistency 
may result in delaying or impeding the integration of health and social care 
across the region which is a primary reason for implementing the Protocol. 

Consultation

7. 7.1     The Trade Unions have provided their comments as part of the formal.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None NA

For Further Information Contact: Louise Griffiths, Tel: 01706926250, 
louise.griffiths@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 41



APPENDIX A

GREATER MANCHESTER CONTINUITY OF SERVICE PROTOCOL

INTRODUCTION

The Greater Manchester Combined Authority and Health and Social Care Partnership Board 
agreed a GM Protocol for Joint Working on Workforce Matters in December 2015. 

This Protocol recognises that staff play a vital role in the delivery of high quality public 
services and that high quality employment in public services plays a vital role in the 
functioning of the Greater Manchester economy and society.

Flexibility of employment across public services is an ambition shared by the organisations 
and recognised trade unions.  Portability of accrued service is a key consideration for 
employees which must be addressed to secure such flexibility.

There is no reason in law why an employer cannot introduce express terms into its contracts 
of employment, or do so by means of a change of policy, which are more advantageous than 
the statutory rights already afforded to its employees, provided it ensures those terms are 
applied fairly and in accordance with its equalities duty.  What it cannot do is seek to limit or 
take away those rights except in the most exceptional of justified circumstances or where 
permitted by law. 
 
A public body must also ensure its rationale for such action makes economic, social and 
environmental sense for them and their communities, and is of benefit to the public purse.
 
Any change in terms and conditions of employment to employees of a public body would be 
subject to consultation.

PURPOSE

As a first step this protocol provides a mechanism for recognition of service where an 
individual employed within local government or the NHS in GM moves employment between 
those sectors on a voluntary basis.

Adoption of the protocol by the GM local authorities, GMCA and NHS organisations would 
be voluntary and would be a decision for each individual organisation within their respective 
governance arrangements.   

This protocol applies to the employers listed below and does not seek to extend such an 
agreement to the wider employer group comprising commissioned providers e.g. third sector 
parties, at this point in time.

Page 42



Local Authorities:

GM Local Authorities GM Combined Authority (GMCA) 
 Bolton
 Bury
 Manchester
 Oldham
 Rochdale
 Salford
 Stockport
 Tameside
 Trafford
 Wigan

Including: 
 GM Fire & Rescue Service
 GM Core Investment team (as employees 

are hosted/seconded by Local Authorities)
 GMPSR team (as employees are 

hosted/seconded by Local Authorities)
 GM Integrated Support Team (as 

employees are hosted/seconded by Local 
Authorities)

 GM Waste Disposal Authority

NHS Bodies:

Association of GM CCGs GM NHS Provider Trusts
 NHS Bolton CCG
 NHS Bury CCG
 NHS Central Manchester CCG
 NHS Heywood, Middleton and 

Rochdale CCG
 NHS North Manchester CCG
 NHS Oldham CCG
 NHS Salford CCG 
 NHS South Manchester CCG
 NHS Stockport CCG
 NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
 NHS Trafford CCG
 NHS Wigan Borough CCG

 Bolton NHS FT
 Central Manchester University Hospitals 

NHS FT
 Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS FT
 Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust
 Pennine Care NHS FT
 Salford Royal NHS FT
 Stockport NHS FT
 Tameside Hospital NHS FT
 The Christie NHS FT University Hospital of 

South Manchester NHS FT
 Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS FT

Other Public Sector Partner Organisations:

 GM Health & Social Care Partnership
 Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM)

The accrued service will be used for the calculation of contractual entitlements and for 
redundancy purposes in accordance with the policies and terms and conditions of the 
relevant participating employer, except where statute does not permit.  

This protocol does not apply to pension arrangements. 

DEFINING CONTINUITY OF SERVICE

The calculation of an employee’s “continuous service” and/or “reckonable service” is 
extremely important in determining the qualification for and value of ‘time served’ 
entitlements. 

It determines access to statutory entitlements such as making a claim for unfair dismissal at 
an Employment Tribunal and the application of the statutory redundancy scheme. It will also 

Page 43

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/bolton
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/bury
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/manchester
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/oldham
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/rochdale
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/salford
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/stockport
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/tameside
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/trafford
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/Wigan


commonly determine access and value of contractual entitlements such as annual leave, 
occupational sick pay, occupational maternity pay and contractual redundancy or severance 
schemes.

Individual employers can decide how their contractual entitlements will be applied and there 
is some discretion to the calculation of redundancy beyond the statutory scheme.  

BENEFITS OF RECOGNISING CONTINUITY OF SERVICE

The benefits of a flexible workforce, facilitated by the adoption of this protocol, are 
summarised below: -

 Having a geographically and organisationally mobile workforce at a GM level will 
benefit both organisations and individuals. Employee movement within and between 
these organisations flexibly can help movement of staff into priority areas ensuring 
delivery at local level. 

 A flexible GM workforce will strengthen cross organisational cultural understanding, 
enhance professional links and increase partnership working. Learning best practice 
from each other can only improve the totality of approaches adopted individually by 
each organisation. 

 Employees, in turn, gain opportunities for personal and professional growth which 
can enhance their career opportunities. This increases staff morale and a motivated 
workforce, within a potentially shrinking public services sector, which is critical in 
delivering the challenges of devolution. 

 A flexible workforce could support the deployment of staff across sectors during 
periods of organisational downsizing and service redesigns, increase GM ability to 
attract and retain staff with specialist skills and improve workforce and succession 
planning on a wider scale.

 Organisations can cut staff turnover costs and fill specialist roles more easily e.g. 
social workers moving from local authorities into local integrated care organisations 
under the NHS.

 Organisations can save on redundancy costs as there would be a wider pool of 
reasonable, suitable redeployment opportunities. 

 Staff with cross-sectoral experience and understanding are essential for delivering 
new transformed services and redesigned roles in integrated services. The easy 
movement of staff between the NHS and local authorities will increasingly be needed 
going forward. A flexible workforce will aid the development of a shared language to 
describe capabilities required in all roles, with accompanying tools and resources. 

CHANGES TO EMPLOYER POLICIES

Organisations who wish to be party to this protocol will need to make amendments to local 
policy and terms and conditions in respect of entitlement for contractual purposes.  In 
respect of recognition of service for the purpose of redundancy the steps to be taken within 
each sector are set out below.

Local Government
 Local Authorities who wish to be party to this protocol will need to amend their 

policies in respect of application of the 2006 Discretionary Compensation Regulations 
to incorporate recognition of continuous service with NHS bodies and PHE.  
Reference may also be included in the annual Pay Policy Statement.

 It is recognised that policy amendments can be made with one months’ notice and 
therefore authorities cannot make advance guarantees that certain redundancy 
compensation payments will be paid.

Page 44



 If the employees are in the NHS Pension Scheme under a Directions Order, the local 
authority will need to check whether the terms of the Direction Order means they can 
pay redundancy benefits under the NHSPS.

NHS
 Section 16 of the Agenda for Change Handbook (NHS Terms and conditions of 

service) outlines entitlement to redundancy pay.  Employees dismissed by reason of 
redundancy must have at least 2 years of continuous full-time or part-time service. To 
qualify for a redundancy payment the employee must be working under a contract of 
employment for an NHS employer as defined in Annex 1 of the AfC Handbook 
(national agreement) and any predecessor or successor body.

 NHS organisations who wish to be party to this protocol have some flexibilities in 
national agreements and to act outside the national agreements if they opt to do so.  
The test must always be one of ‘acting reasonably’ in relation to resources/use of 
public money i.e.: redundancy payment should not be more than is necessary unless 
justified and agreed.

CONCLUSION

This protocol marks a significant step for Greater Manchester in achieving reform of public 
services.  A competent, engaged workforce is a key enabler to successful reform and it is 
important to facilitate not only retention of skills and knowledge but to ensure that the sector 
is seen as attractive and rewarding to future generations.

The protocol applies in the first instance to the voluntary movement of employees between 
local government/identified public sector bodies and NHS employers as a proof of concept.  
The Greater Manchester Workforce Engagement Board will monitor the application and 
success of this protocol and will make recommendations for any further revisions as 
appropriate.

Page 45



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting
Portfolio

27th March 2018
Cllr Kieran Heakin
Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services

Report Author Bob Adams
Public/Private Document Public

Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2017/18

Executive Summary

1. The Local Authority has a statutory duty under the 2006 Children Act to 
publish an annual childcare sufficiency assessment.  The full assessment is 
attached at Appendix 1. 

 We are pleased that we can be seen to be meeting the childcare sufficiency 
duty and that we do overall have sufficient early years and childcare places to 
meet demand. However, there are some areas of the borough where there is 
room to develop additional place capacity. These areas differ by age range. 
For example, Newbold has an under supply of 2 year old places, whilst parts 
of Middleton and Rochdale have a small under supply of 3 and 4 year old 
places. These areas are fully detailed to Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) 
level within the sufficiency assessment.

Recommendation

2. That the 2017/18 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment is approved for 
publication

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Childcare Sufficiency Assessment details progress from the previous 
assessment and also details key tasks and timescales for the coming year, 
this must be published annually.

Key Points for Consideration

4. In summary, the key work areas and tasks for the coming year identified within 
the sufficiency assessment are;

• encourage development of two year old places in schools and other 
           providers,   in identified areas of under supply, particularly Newbold, 
           and Smallbridge / Wardle Edge.

Page 46

Agenda Item 11



• encourage development of varying models of service delivery including 
          joint working between providers from different sectors to facilitate supply
          of places to meet the new 30 hour entitlement, particularly in areas 
          where lack of group provision inhibits place development and access
• introduce monitoring systems to assess effects on existing free 
           entitlements arising from the introduction of the 30 hour childcare 
           entitlement .We are now in the second term of 30 hour implementation 
           and it is too early to gauge on going or potentially permanent effects on
           other entitlements. We will continue to monitor take up and delivery
           patterns on a termly basis to assess this.
• continue to share instances of unmet demand with all childcare 
           providers and encourage them to expand their provision where 
           appropriate to meet identified need. 
• monitor improvements in attainment levels of children in the lowest 20% 
           locally against previous year’s figures
• work with the 10 AGMA Local Authorities to develop joint working and 
          protocols in relation to all early years delivery and administration

Alternatives Considered

There are no alternatives that could be considered

Costs and Budget Summary

5. There are no new financial implications to this report, although external 
funding from DfE has been gained to support the development of 30 hour 
places

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1 English local authorities have statutory duties in this area pursuant to section 
2 of the Childcare Act 2016 and sections 6, 7, 7A, 9A, 12 and 13 of the 
Childcare Act 2006. Local authorities must have regard to the statutory  
guidance fro the DfE when seeking to discharge those duties. They should 
not depart from it unless they have good reason to do so.

6.2 The Childcare Act 2006 places a duty on English local authorities to 
secure sufficient childcare for working parents (S6). The Act places a duty on 
English local authorities to secure early years provision free of charge (S7 as 
substituted by section 1 of the Education Act 2011). Regulations under s7 set 
out the type and amount of free provision and the children who benefit from 
free provision. Regulations make provision about how local authorities should 
discharge their duty under section 7 (7A) and limit the requirements local 
authorities can impose when they make arrangements to deliver early 
education places for two, three and four-year-olds (S9A).

6.3 The Act places a duty on English local authorities to provide information, 
advice and assistance to parents and prospective parents (S12). Section 12 
is amended by section 5 of the Childcare Act 2016 to enable the Secretary of 
State to make regulations placing a duty on English local authorities to 
publish certain information at prescribed intervals. There is also a duty on 

Page 47



English local authorities to provide information, advice and training to 
childcare providers (S13).

6.4 The Childcare Act 2016 places a duty on the Secretary of State to secure 
the equivalent of 30 hours of free childcare over 38 weeks of the year for 
qualifying children (S1). Children in England will qualify if they are under 
compulsory school age and meet the description set out in regulations made 
under s2. These regulations also set out the conditions to be met by parents 
in order for their children to qualify. S2 allows the Secretary of State to 
discharge their duty under S1 of the Act by placing a duty on English local 
authorities to secure free childcare for qualifying children. This duty is set out 
at regulation 33 of the Childcare (Early Years Provision Free of Charge) 
(Extended Entitlement) Regulations 2016.

6.5 To summarise the key provisions of The Childcare Act 2006 (relating to 
early education and childcare);

 Requires local authorities and their partners to improve the outcomes 
of all children under 5 and reduce inequalities (ss. 1- 5)  

 Requires local authorities to secure sufficient childcare (S6).
 Places a duty on local authorities in accordance with regulations to 

secure free early years provision of the prescribed description for each 
young child in their area who is under compulsory school age and is of 
the prescribed description (S 7-8).

 Allows regulations to be made about how local authorities should 
discharge their duty under section 7 (S 7A-9).

 Enables local authorities to assist others to provide childcare 
(including free early years provision) including giving them financial 
assistance but specifies that local authorities should only provide 
childcare themselves if no other provider is willing to or, where another 
person is willing, if it is appropriate in the circumstances for the local 
authority to provide it (S8).

 Gives local authorities the power to attach requirements to the 
arrangements they make with providers (other than the governing 
body of a maintained school) to deliver childcare including free early 
years provision (S9).

 Allows regulations to be made which prescribe the requirements local 
authorities may or may not impose when they make arrangements  
(S9A).

 Places a duty on local authorities to provide information, advice and 
assistance to parents about childcare in the area (S12).

  Places a duty on local authorities to secure the provision of 
information, advice and training to childcare providers and childcare 
workers (S13).

 The Childcare Act 2006 Act provides that local authorities must have 
regard to any guidance given by the Secretary of State, when 
discharging their duties:

 The duty to secure sufficient childcare for working parents [s 6(3)]
 The duty to secure prescribed early years provision free of charge [s 

7(3)]

Page 48



 The duty to establish and maintain a service providing information, 
advice and assistance for parents [s12(7)] and

 The duty to secure the provision of information, advice and training to 
childcare providers [section 13(5)].

6.5; The Equality Act 2010 sets out the legal obligations for local authorities 
to plan in advance what disabled children and young people might require 
and what adjustments might need to be made to prevent that disadvantage.
Local authorities and other listed public authorities (which include local 
authority maintained schools and Academies) must comply with the public 
sector equality duty (found in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) which 
sets out the three “equality needs” that they must have due regard to when 
making decisions:

 to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited under the Act;

 to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and

 to foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

6.6 Early Years and Childcare place supply and availability is a key element 
inaiding the local authority to meet its four key priorities of People, Place, 
Prosperity and Corporate Health

6.7 The risks associated with the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment are 
detailed in the appendix to the report. These relate to challenges in 
implementing the new 30 hour entitlement and new funding arrangements. 
Whilst the risk to the LA is small, the risks to some early years and childcare 
providers is much greater as a result of funding changes and likely changes 
in parental demand

Consultation

7. Consultation regarding the detail of the assessment is undertaken with new 
and existing providers when any new provision is planned 

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment 2016/17

Council Web Pages/Family Service 
Directory

For Further Information Contact: Bob Adams, 01706 927849 , 
bob.adams@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 49



Rochdale          
Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment
2017/18

Page 50



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 1

Document Control
Document Title:

Summary

Publication Date April 2018

Related Legislation / Applicable 
Section of Legislation Childcare Act 2006

Related Policies, Strategies, 
Guideline Documents

Replaces Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2016/17

Joint Strategy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint

Strategy Owner (Name/Position) Bob Adams – Childcare Development Manager

Strategy Author (Name/Position) Bob Adams – Childcare Development Manager

Applies to Early Years & Childcare Providers/Parents & Children

Review of Strategy

Last Review Date January 2018

Review undertaken by Bob Adams

Next Review Date January 2019

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Cabinet

Page 51



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 2

Contents 

Section Sub section Page number

1.    Introduction 3-4

2.    Strategic Outcomes 5

3.     Defining Sufficiency 6
3.1. The Early Years & Childcare 
        Market

7

3.2. Changes in providers 7
3.3. Quality 8
3.4. Sufficiency by age range and
       sector

9

       0-5 year old places 9
       Occupancy & Vacancies 9 -10
       Flexibility & Time Spans 10
       Two Year old places and gaps in
       provision

11-12  

       Three & Four Year Old places 12-14
       Places and gaps in provision 13 - 14
       30 hour entitlement 14-15
       Summary 2, 3 & 4 year olds 15
       5 to 10 Year Old’s (before & 
       after school) & gaps in provision

15 -16

       5 to 10 Year Old’s (holidays) & 
       gaps in provision

16 - 17

       Older Children 17 -18

4.     Local Offer        SEND 18
       Funding Inclusion 19
       Supported Day Care 19

5.    Costs of childcare 20

6.    School Readiness 20 - 22

7.     Early Years Pupil Premium 22

8.     Family Information Service 23-24

9.     Conclusions 24

10.   Future Challenges 25

11.  Recommendations 26
Page 52



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 3

1. Introduction 

The Local Authority has a statutory duty under the Childcare Act 2006 to secure sufficient childcare, as far 
as is reasonably practicable, for working parents, or parents who are studying or training for employment, 
for children aged 0-14 (or up to 18 for disabled children). In order to comply with this legislation local 
authorities should:

Take into account what is ‘reasonably practicable’ when assessing what sufficient childcare means in their 
area and:

 assess the state of the local childcare market, including the demand for specific types of providers, 
in a particular locality and the amount and type of supply that currently exists.

 Be aware of the quality and capacity of childcare providers, including their funding, staff, premises, 
experience and expertise

 encourage schools in their area to offer out-of-hours childcare between 8.00am and 6.00pm and to 
offer 5 hour rather than 3 hour sessions

 encourage existing providers to expand their provision and new providers to enter the local 
childcare market.

 meet the legal entitlement to early education for around the 40% most disadvantaged two-year-olds 
and all three and four year olds

 report annually to elected council members on how they are meeting their duty to secure sufficient 
childcare, and make this report available and accessible to parents.

Local Authorities are responsible for determining the appropriate level of detail in their report, geographical 
division and date of publication. The report should include:

 a specific reference to how they are ensuring there is sufficient childcare available to meet the 
needs of disabled children, children from families in receipt of the childcare element of Working Tax 
Credit or Universal Credit, children with parents who work irregular hours, children aged two, three 
and four taking up early education places, school age children and children needing regular holiday 
care.

 information about the supply of and demand for childcare for particular age ranges of children, and 
the affordability, accessibility and quality of provision

 details of how gaps in childcare provision will be addressed

This report will provide an update on the supply and demand for childcare in Rochdale making comparisons 
where possible with the 2016/17 report. It will address the specific areas and references required by 
government. The report uses data from many sources which means that some data may not directly 
correlate. For example; Live Birth Rate figures for 2 year olds may be from mid-2016 and 2 year old 
occupancy figures may be from the January 2017 early years census. These limitations mean that the 
report shows trends based on the most up to date information available at the time.

The provision of childcare and the evidence presented in childcare sufficiency assessments support the 
core objectives and priorities of the Council which are Prosperity, People and Place:

Improving health and wellbeing in Rochdale (People)

 having the places available and a high take up of early education to help ensure every child has the 
best start in life

 targeted opportunities for children most at risk of poor outcomes, promoting social mobility to help 
children reach their full potential Page 53



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 4

Further strengthening the Rochdale economy (Prosperity)

 the availability of childcare removes a barrier for parents to work and make their contribution to the 
local economy

 early education provides the starting point for a child’s lifelong learning and skills journey to 
participate in the future workforce

 childcare directly provides approx. 1800 jobs in Rochdale and this figure continues to grow

This report will be shared with Elected Members and made available to a wider audience through 
publication on Rochdale Council’s website.

National Policy Changes

Since the last Childcare Sufficiency Report there have been a number of national policy changes and 
introductions that have, or will have, a significant impact on the Rochdale childcare market. These are 
summarised as follows;

 the implementation of 30 hours free childcare for working parents from September 2017 
 the review of free early education and childcare funding for all providers to be implemented from 

April 2017 
 Childminders registered in Rochdale who offer early education continues to increase from 37 (of 

approx. 200 childminders) in January 2016 to 95 (of 186 registered childminders) in January 2018.
 removal of barriers to registration, extending of age ranges and statutory consultation, making it 

easier for schools to offer childcare services.
 significant reductions in the spending made available to local authorities means Rochdale Council is 

providing fewer services than in previous years, which is likely to continue in the future. This will 
continue to have an impact on the level of support childcare providers can expect from different 
departments within the Council.

 the impact of the Children and Families Act 2014 and in particular a new code of practice for special 
educational needs and disabilities (SEND) increases choice for parents and places expectations on 
childcare providers to meet the needs of children with SEND. 

 The development of a ‘Local Offer’ requires local authorities to provide on-line information about 
services (including childcare) for families and children with SEND in one place.

Page 54



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 5

2. Strategic Outcomes

What has been achieved since the 2016/17 Annual Report?

The last Childcare Sufficiency Report gave us the following actions as shown below and any progress 
made is also detailed;

Encourage development of two year old places in schools and 
other providers, in identified areas of under supply, particularly 
Newbold, Balderstone & Kirkholt and Smallbridge / Wardle Edge.

New provider established serving Balderstone 
& Kirkholt.
Wardle Edge and Newbold continue to be 
areas of under development but lack of 
available premises is a key factor.

Deliver the 30 hour implementation plan All areas of implementation plan achieved
Encourage development of varying models of service delivery 
including joint working between providers from different sectors to 
facilitate supply of places to meet the new 30 hour entitlement, 
particularly in areas where lack of group provision inhibits place 
development and access

In the first term of implementation (Sept to Dec 
17) there are emerging patterns of shared 
use/funding – but these are determined by 
parental demand rather than provider design. 

Deliver briefings and workshop sessions to ensure providers are 
aware of all challenges and opportunities presented by the 30 
hour childcare initiative and revised funding arrangements

83 briefing/information sessions were held in 
the year since the last assessment. Our % of 
parents seeking codes and subsequently 
accessing places indicates key messages are 
getting through to providers and parents alike.

Develop processes and business planning support  for providers 
facing sustainability issues 

Signposting arrangements are now in place 
and information for existing and new providers 
is available on council web pages and the 
Family Service Directory

Develop and implement a new funding formula in line with new 
government guidance

Implemented from April 2017. Projected 
funding rates for 2018/19 agreed and will be 
confirmed by early March 2018

Continue to develop the Training Membership Scheme to support 
the continuous professional development of local early years and 
childcare providers and maximise income generation 

Membership continues to be stable. Looking to 
introduce on line booking system to automate 
service further.

Introduce monitoring systems to assess effects on existing free 
entitlements arising from the introduction of the 30 hour childcare 
entitlement and identify individual solutions to these issues where 
they arise.

We are now in the second term of 30 hour 
implementation and it is too early to gauge on 
going or potentially permanent effects on other 
entitlements. We will continue to monitor take 
up and delivery patterns on a termly basis to 
assess this. 

Introduce systems for checking on going eligibility of parents for 
30 hour entitlement

New systems introduced and embedded to 
enable this.

Monitor improvements in attainment levels of children in the 
lowest 20% locally against previous year’s figures

We are already noticing an unintended effect 
of 30 hour introduction which may work against 
this aim. We will monitor this on an on-going 
basis.

Continue to develop the childminding Pre and post Registration 
Scheme to support the quality, as determined by Ofsted grade, of 
local childminders.

On going

Continue to share instances of unmet demand with all childcare 
providers and encourage them to expand their provision where 
appropriate to meet identified need. 

On going

Work with the 10 AGMA Local Authorities to develop joint working 
and protocols in relation to all early years delivery and 
administration

On going

Page 55



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 6

3. Defining Sufficiency

In deciding our measure for sufficiency we have elected to use the total child population in a given age 
range divided by the overall percentage (69.2% Source: ONS. Labour Market Profile Rochdale) of 
“economically active” families to provide a target figure by which we may measure success for services 
aimed at 0 – 5 year old’s.  We have used the economically active figure as this would indicate the numbers 
of families who would require early years and childcare provision (in addition to any free entitlements) to 
support their continued work, education or training. 

Our previous Childcare Sufficiency Assessments (2008 to 2017) have identified that a target of 1 place for 
every 10 children for children in the 5-11 year age range for term time provision will meet parental demand 
and encourage the sustainability of providers offering services for children in that age range. We will apply 
the 1:10 ratio to the % of “economically active” families to create our target figure to all term time provision. 
In holiday periods a ratio of 1 place for every 20 children will be used to determine sufficiency.

Again, the previous Childcare Sufficiency Assessments identified that for children and young people aged 
11 years to 14 years a target of 1 place for every 20 children and young people would meet parental 
demand. Demand for this type of childcare does not directly relate to meeting the needs of working parents 
and tends to lean heavily towards informal activity based sessions usually in the holidays or early evenings. 

Age Range Total children
(using latest Live Birth Rate 

data unless indicated)

Children in economically 
(69.3%) active families  -or 

other specified target

Target number of 
childcare places

0 to 2 years** 5966 ** 4134 413
2 Year Old Entitlement* 1635  * Appx. 40% of all 2 Year Olds n/a
3-5 years  (Free 
Entitlement)

5855** 90% floor target 5270

5 to 11 years – term 17525** 12144 1214
5 to 11 years -  hols 17525** 12144 607
11 – 14 Years 10905** Information regarding activities, groups and 

organisations offering services to children and young 
people are detailed in a separate on line document, 
The Family Service Directory (FSD)

*   numbers derived from eligible families identified by the Dept. for Work & Pensions/ Dept. for Education
** figures from live birth rate data (latest June 16 – projected forward for Jan 17 figure used for new births)

Guidance requires that we also define our understanding and implementation of the term “reasonably 
practicable” in assessing sufficiency of early years and childcare provision. For our purposes we define 
reasonably practicable as seeking to provide services within the targets defined within the table above. We 
consider that it is reasonably impracticable to establish services where child to place ratios are below the 
levels indicated as this would make it either;

a) financially unviable for providers or 
b) financially unaffordable for parents /carers.  

Examples of this from previous assessments have been a Borough wide demand for school holiday places 
for 11-14 year old’s which have not translated into sufficient numbers at a local level to make it “reasonably 
practicable” to establish such a service.

Page 56



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 7

3.1. The local early years and childcare market

Early Years and Childcare provision in Rochdale is delivered through a wide and diverse range of providers 
from the private, voluntary and independent (PVI) sectors and maintained provision from the Local 
Authority. 

As the majority of our early years and childcare places are delivered through the private, voluntary and 
independent sectors, our success in achieving sufficiency of affordable and quality places is directly linked 
to the support, guidance and support we offer to those providers. 

3.2. Changes to registered providers in the year to January 2016 

We continually monitor any changes in the childcare market and identify any areas of concern arising that 
may affect our early years and childcare sufficiency. The following table details changes in numbers of 
registered providers in the past year.

Service Type Number of or number 
registered at January 15th 
2017

Number of  at 
January 15th 2018

Change +/-

Childminder 189 186 -3
Pre School Playgroups 28 23 -5
Full Day Nursery 51 57 +6
Maintained Nursery Classes 40 39 -1
Maintained Nursery School 2 2 0
Independent Nursery Provision 1 1 0
Academy Nursery provision 2 2 0
Before School Club 42 39 -3
After School Club 42 39 -3
Holiday Club 23 26 +3

Total 420 414 -6

We were concerned that changes to delivery patterns, particularly the introduction of 30 hours, would have 
an adverse effect on sessional providers, in particular pre-school playgroups, who are not able to expand or 
enlarge their current offer because of circumstances outside of their control. This has resulted in some of 
those settings not being able to meet parental demand and needs and resultantly their numbers have fallen 
to levels that are unsustainable. This is shown in the above table where we have sadly seen five pre-school 
groups close in the past twelve months. One maintained nursery class has chosen to “freeze” its service 
this year and not offer places although the service has not officially ceased.

The reduction in the number of registered childminders appears to follow a national trend. In recent years, 
prospective childminders have had to pay market charges to become registered which were formerly 
offered at subsidised rates. This combined with a tighter Ofsted registration process will have contributed in 
Rochdale as it has nationally, to fewer new childminders entering the sector. We formerly offered three pre-
registration courses per year but declining numbers of prospective childminders will mean that in the year 
2017-18 we will offer two such courses. However the quality of childminding practice, as judged by Ofsted, 
remains high.

Conversely, there has been an increase in the number of private day nurseries in the borough over the past 
twelve months with six new providers establishing new places.

Page 57



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 8

3.3. Quality

Inspections from 1 September 2015 were carried out under the Common Inspection Framework (CIF), such 
that the inspection judgements are common across the Early Years, Schools and Further Education and 
Skills remits. Ofsted evaluates the overall quality and standards of the early years provision in line with the 
principles and requirements of the EYFS. Inspectors judge the overall effectiveness of the early years 
provision, taking into account four key judgements:

 Quality of teaching, learning and assessment;
 Personal development, behaviour and welfare;
 Effectiveness of leadership and management;
 Outcomes for children. 

Ofsted were required to inspect all providers who were on the Early Years Register (EYR) on 1 September 
2012 at least once by 31 July 2016. Providers who have registered after this date will normally be inspected 
within 30 months of registration.

The Local Authority is tasked with supporting providers less than “good”.

We continually monitor all Ofsted inspection reports by sector and individual setting, and seek information 
not just relating to the overall grade given, but also individual elements within the overall inspection. We 
use this information to inform our annual training programme which then contributes to a planned 
improvement in Ofsted grade at future inspections. 

In January 2018 Ofsted grades (of those who have one) by sector in the Borough are shown in the 
following table;

Sector Outstanding Good Requires 
Improvement

Inadequate/
Special 

measures

No grade 
yet (no 

inspection)

% Good 
or above
(of those 

with 
grade)

Change 
from 

previous 
year

Childminder 25 (16%) 96 (61%) 3 (2%) 0 (0%) 32 (21%) 78% + 3%
Pre School Playgroups 4 (17%) 15 (65%) 2 (9%) 0 (0%) 2 (9%) 83% +11%
Full Day Nursery 6 (11%) 41 (72%) 2 (4%) 0 (0%) 8 (14%) 82% +1%
Maintained Nursery 
Classes

8 (21%) 28 (74%) 2 (5%) 95% +10%

Maintained Nursery 
School

1 (50%) 1 (50%) 50% +50%

Independent Nursery 
Provision

1 (100%) 100%

Academy Nursery 
provision

2(100%) 100%

Total All Sectors* 44 (18%) 186 (78%) 9 (4%) 0 (0%) 42 (0%) 96% +8%

The % take up is of those who have an Ofsted Grade; it does not include those with no grade yet.

Page 58



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 9

3.4. Sufficiency achievement and access by age range and sector

Overall places 0 to 5 years

During summer 2012, Ofsted amended the way in which it both registers and applies numbers of places to 
early years and childcare providers. Providers on the Early Years and Compulsory Childcare Registers are 
now given a maximum number of overall places for children and may now vary, on an almost daily basis, 
the numbers of children they place from differing age ranges within that overall number. Services for over 
eights are largely contained within the Voluntary Childcare Registers and have no set registered numbers. 
This change makes it very difficult to calculate sufficiency based on supply and demand for different age 
groups. 
In deciding our measure for sufficiency we have elected to use the total child population in a given age 
range divided by the overall percentage (69.3%) of “economically active” families to provide a target figure 
by which we may measure success for services aimed at 0 – 5 year old’s.  We have used the economically 
active figure as this would indicate the numbers of families who would require early years and childcare 
provision

Children (Live Birth Rate) 69.3% of LBR
Places available 
(exc. Reception)

Ratio

11821 8191 7231                     1 to 1.13

As can be seen we are overall within and therefore meeting our place targets for this age group on a 
Borough wide basis. This does not mean that we have sufficient places available in all areas of the 
borough. Where we consider there are areas of the Borough that present challenges or need further 
development, these are evident in the township table but are also reported in Sections 9, 10 and 11.

Occupancy and vacancies

It is very difficult to give figures that portray an accurate picture of occupancy and vacancy levels, as by the 
very nature, they can change on a daily basis. What is known is that occupancy, and therefore vacancies, 
traditionally vary over the three terms with the lowest take up and most vacancies in the autumn term 
(September) and the peak attendance in Spring (January) and Summer (April) terms. Only childminders 
and private day nurseries are open throughout the year and their attendance levels are known to be lowest 
during school holidays periods.

We can give accurate figures for occupancy levels in maintained schools as this information is centrally 
collected, and this year (based on January 2018) occupancy levels are at 74.61% of capacity. This 
represents a 7% increase on last year. This can be directly attributed to additional hours accessed by 30 
hour eligible families.

On a township level, these occupancy figures for maintained settings would be as follows; Heywood 63%, 
Middleton 85%, Pennine 77% and Rochdale 71%. The vacancy figures above relate to funded places only. 

Within the Private, Voluntary and Independent sectors (Private Nurseries, Playgroups, Childminders) we 
are reliant upon voluntary returns to provide this information. The response rate to these requests is 
traditionally low and we often receive insufficient responses to make any meaningful assessment of 
occupancy levels in those sectors. From responses we do receive we can indicate that average occupancy 
levels in the PVI sector is around 79% but this should be seen as an indicator only and used with caution 
due to the low responses.

Page 59



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 10

What we do know historically is that over previous years, the general level of vacancies in each sector of 
the childcare market had remained fairly static. 

The exception to this position in the previous year was within some maintained nursery classes, which have 
generally seen attendances decrease year on year. It was evident that this was due to parents favouring 
more flexible provision and increased attendances in other sectors, at the same time as the decrease in 
this sector, would support that suggestion. However, the first term take up of 30 hour entitlements has seen 
a significant % occupancy increase in a number of these maintained settings in certain areas of the 
borough. In areas where 30 hour eligibility is lower attendances remain lower than ideal in some maintained 
settings.

Reception classes in schools (children aged 4+) have very high occupancy rates as they are linked to 
formal education and do offer 25 hours per week.

In using the term “flexible” we mean provision that has opening times and periods that meet parental work 
patterns or other needs and demands. A once traditional model of delivery of a morning session of 8.45 – 
11.45 and afternoon session of 12.45 to 3.45 (or similar) in term time only may not be the delivery model 
that parents want and need. 

The government have consistently suggested that childcare should be available between the hours of 8am 
and 6pm (and this year are suggesting 7am-7pm), all year round and it is childcare providers who can offer 
this model who are seeing increases in attendance. The differing models of delivery across sectors are 
detailed in the table at 3.8.3. 

Availability and time spans

Provider Type % open 
8am or 
earlier

% 
closing 
6pm or 

later

% 
providers 
open full 
day 8-6

% providers 
offering am 

or pm 
sessions 

only

All year 
(inc. 

holidays)

Providers 
offering 30 
hour places

Childminder* 100% 100% 100% 0% 100% 51%
Pre School 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 74%
Private Day Nursery* 100% 100% 100% 0% 100% 96%
Maintained Nursery 
Class*

52% 45% 0% 100% 0% 74%

Maintained Nursery 
School*

0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 100%

Independent/ Academy* 33% 0% 0% 100% 0% 33%
* includes before and after school provision

Page 60



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 11

Two Year Old Entitlement Places

Free early years places for disadvantaged 2 Year Old’s (2YO) are funded through Central Government. 
Eligibility for places is determined through a family being within a threshold of income (mainly determined 
through the same criteria as used for Free School Meals or Family Tax Credits/low income). Government 
intend that approx.40% of all 2YO’s should have access to a place.

Two Year Old places are delivered largely through the Private, Voluntary and Independent sectors. 
However, a small number of schools are now offering places for two year olds. 

Our current levels of take up over the past three terms indicate that we are at 85.1% of eligible parents 
accessing a place

On a township basis over three terms our take up of 2YO places is shown in the table below

Township Eligible Children Places accessed % take up

Heywood 188 171 91.5%

Pennine 176 159 90.3%

Middleton 251 210 83.7%

Rochdale 887 665 75%

Rochdale Borough resident children accessing 1501 1206 85.1%

Out of borough children accessing in Rochdale 41

In Autumn term 2017 (not a three term average) these places were delivered through the spread of 
providers detailed in the table below.

Provider Type % of Places delivered to Sept 2017 Actual take up (places accessed in 
sector) as of Jan 2018

Childminder 3.7% 46
Playgroup 17.5% 217
Private Day Nursery 69.4% 863
Independent Provider 1.0% 12
Maintained Schools 8.4% 104
 
Total 1242

Gaps in provision

On a ward basis, the following electoral wards have a lower than borough average take up of 2 Year old 
places;

 Milkstone and Deeplish
 Central Rochdale 
 Kingsway
 Smallbridge & Firgrove

Page 61



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 12

At Lower Super Output Area’s (LSOA) (which are very small distinct areas within those wards), the 
following areas have, over each of the three terms, a lower level of take up than the borough average

Township LSOA Ward

Heywood E01005501 North Heywood

Pennine E01005516 Littleborough Lakeside
E01005518 Littleborough Lakeside
E01005560 Milnrow & Newhey
E01005578 Smallbridge & Firgrove

Middleton E01005531 East Middleton
E01005541 North Middleton

Rochdale E01005475 Balderstone & Kirkholt
E01005481 Castleton
E01005583 Central Rochdale
E01005489 Healey
E01005494 Healey
E01005565 Kingsway
E01005569 Kingsway
E01005471 Milkstone & Deeplish
E01005482 Milkstone & Deeplish
E01005485 Milkstone & Deeplish
E01005486 Central Rochdale
E01005487 Spotland

In all cases, the number of children that could make a significant difference is low. For example, in LSOA 
e01005471 (Milkstone & Deeplish) there were 57 eligible children of which 38 are accessing (66%), an 
additional 8 children accessing would increase the  take up to over 80%. 

Three and Four Year Old’s

Each 3 and 4 year old (from the term after their 3rd birthday) in the Borough are entitled to 15 Free Hours of 
early year’s provision and we, as the local authority, are tasked with ensuring that there is a free/funded 
place for every child who wants one. 

The Government has established a “floor target” of 90% to reflect that not all parents/carers choose to 
access a free place. These, include 4 year old children who, in Rochdale, may attend Reception Classes 
(and are therefore not funded through the single funding formula for free entitlements) and may also include 
home educators or parent’s/carers who do not wish their children to attend education provision until they 
are legally obliged to. 

The table below details our current levels of take up (in January 2017) by provider type. This is based on 
the most current term only; therefore these figures should be seen as approximate only. 

These figures also include children from other boroughs accessing their free entitlement in Rochdale.

Page 62



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 13

Provider Type Funded places 
accessed exc. 

Reception places

Sector  %
(funded places)

Childminder 57 1.87%
Playgroup 351 11.53%
Private Day Nursery 1174 38.56%
Independent / Academy 96 3.15%
Maintained Nursery School 117 3.84%
Maintained Nursery Class 1250 41.05%

Total 3045 100.00%

These figures will include some double counting which arises when a child may have accessed one 
provider for one term and another the following term. We believe the actual take up of children from 
Rochdale in Rochdale is approx. 94%, which is a combined figure of 3 and 4 year olds. This is slightly lower 
than in previous years and may be due to the impact of 30 hour places, which is something we will continue 
to monitor in the coming terms.

There are 149 children accessing their free entitlement in Rochdale who are not resident in the Borough 
(e.g. children from other neighbouring authorities) and there are also children from Rochdale accessing 
their entitlement in other Boroughs. 

Local Authority Children accessing in Rochdale
Bolton 1
Bury 14
Caldershaw 7
Lancashire 50
Manchester 34
Oldham 41
Stockport 1
Tameside 1

Gaps in Provision

There are individual wards and LSOA’s that exceed or are below the borough average and any areas that 
are below the floor target figure of 90% On a ward basis, the following Lower Super Output Area’s (LSOA) 
within those wards, have a lower than average take up of places.

Township LSOA Ward

Heywood E01005498 North Heywood
E01005501 North Heywood
E01005509 West Heywood

Pennine E01005516 Littleborough Lakeside
E01005522 Littleborough Lakeside
E01005556 Milnrow & Newhey

Page 63



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 14

Middleton E01005525 Hopwood Hall
E01005526 Hopwood Hall
E01005537 North Middleton
E01005534 East Middleton
E01005535 East Middleton
E01005547 South Middleton
E01005548 South Middleton

Rochdale E01005468 Balderstone & Kirkholt
E01005477 Castleton
E01005486 Central Rochdale
E01005491 Healey
E01005492 Healey
E01005482 Milkstone & Deeplish
E01005484 Milkstone & Deeplish
E01005487 Spotland & Falinge

In most cases, the number of children that could make a significant difference is fairly low. These figures 
are not able to include numbers of children who are eligible but home educated and parents who, for 
whatever reason, do not wish their children to access an early years place.

30 Hour eligibility and take up

Currently 64% of all childcare providers are offering all 3&4YO free entitlement places including 30 hours 
places. Currently, 95 of 186 childminders offer free entitlement places which is why the overall percentage 
appears low. Amongst group providers (all settings except childminders) this figure rises to 83%. Where 
group providers are not offering 30 hour places this is largely due to limitations on venue use 
(predominantly pre-school playgroups) preventing expansion. Some schools do not currently see 30 hour 
places as a viable consideration.

At time of writing (Dec 2017) we were aware of approx.1163 parents eligible for the 30 hour entitlement in 
the borough. Of these we are aware of 1023 that have successfully accessed a 30 hour place. This 
represents approx.88% of those eligible taking up a place.  We are aware that some of those not accessing 
currently will be parents whose eligibility did not begin until January 2018 are not included in these reported 
take up figures.

In terms of eligibility and take up at a township level, places accessed are shown below;

Heywood 140
Middleton 216
Pennine 185
Rochdale 398

Out of borough  84

Total 1023

At a local level we are aware that this is highest in the following electoral wards;

 South Middleton
 Littleborough Lakeside
 North Heywood
 Norden

Page 64



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 15

The lowest wards in terms of eligibility and take up are;

 Milkstone & Deeplish
 Hopwood Hall (Middleton part of)
 Smallbridge & Firgrove

Whilst the first term of implementation has not produced any adverse effects on other free entitlement 
places, September is the lowest take up term historically, meaning we have effectively filled existing 
vacancies (particularly in maintained nursery classes). We do feel that there may be more concern in this 
area in the coming two terms as demand increases and available places are more restricted.

Summary – 2, 3 and 4 Year Old’s

It is worth noting that all free entitlements are not mandatory and a number of parents actively choose for 
their children not to attend early provision and wait until their children reach statutory school age. This may 
account, or contribute to, a lower percentage of 3YO children accessing their entitlement. Proximity to 
home, or being able to gain a place at their first choice provider, are also major factors for parents in 
determining whether or not their child will access free entitlements. 

The 3&4YO 30 hour extended entitlement is now in its second term. The first term of implementation did 
not have any major impact. This was helped by the historical fact that September (Autumn Term) has the 
lowest percentage take up of all terms and as a result 30 hour places simply filled that terms vacancies. We 
expect that figures for the 2nd and 3rd terms may see changes to this as we are aware that some providers 
will not have any vacancies to fill the demand from new starters in spring and summer terms.

We will be carefully monitoring future terms take up patterns to monitor any changes to delivery patterns 
and in particular the potential supply and demand issues around 30 hour places but also any potential 
effect on supply of 15 hour only places

Five to Ten year olds

Before & After School (Term Time Provision) 

The figures quoted in this section have been arrived at following a “childcare audit” undertaken locally 
during November/December 2015. These figures are a guide only as the amount of places provided can 
change as providers do not need to register number of places offered for children over 8 years of age.

Childminders are not included within the figures but can choose to offer before and after school care (on 
the childcare register) and can care for up to three children aged 5-8 years in addition to their early year’s 
registration numbers. Children over 8 years are outside the requirement for registration and the only caveat 
is that these children do not impact on the care of under 8’s. For this reason it is not possible to accurately 
determine the number of places in this age range offered by childminders on a consistent basis and this is 
why childminders are not included in this count.

The numbers below only show breakfast and after school clubs in schools but do not include irregular 
activities that may also be available (by irregular we mean only available one or two days per week, not 
every day), these might include football or other sporting sessions, drama, music sessions etc. which can, 
and do, meet some parental after school childcare needs, particularly if coupled with other informal 
childcare. 

National trends also show that much demand for before and after school care can be, and is in a large 
number of families, met through informal childcare arrangements (i.e. grandparents, extended family). It is 
not possible to measure the full extent of this and the effect this may have on local supply and demand.Page 65



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 16

In the year from January 2017 we have received less than five reports of unmet demand for this type of 
provision and where this does exist it is linked to parents preferring a particular type of provider and being 
unwilling to consider any other form of childcare that may be available. In no cases have we received 
demand that would be sufficient, or attractive enough to providers, to establish new specific provision. It is 
for all of these reasons that these figures are a guide and represent only the known places that are 
consistently available. The table below is a combination of before and after school places in the Borough.

Locality Birth Rate 69.3% Available places Ratio

Heywood 2575 1784 694 1 to 2.55

Pennine 2196 1522 882 1 to 1.73

Middleton 2503 1735 916 1 to 1.89

Rochdale 10251 7104 990 1 to 7.17

Rochdale Borough 17525 12145 3482 1 to 3.48

These places are provided by the following sectors and township for BEFORE SCHOOL places

Sector Heywood Pennine Middleton Rochdale Borough Total %
Private / Voluntary providers 111 191 190 146 638 39.78%
Schools 200 250 232 274 956 59.6%
Maintained Nursery Schools 0 0 10 0 0 0.62%
Independent/Private/Academy 0 0 0 0 0 0%
 
Total 311 441 432 420 1604

These places are provided by the following sectors and township for AFTER SCHOOL places

Sector Heywood Pennine Middleton Rochdale Borough Total %
Private / Voluntary providers 197 191 262 146 796 45.5%
Schools 186 250 232 274 942 53.8%
Maintained Nursery Schools 0 0 10 0 10 0.57%
Independent/Private/Academy 0 0 0 0 0 0%
       
Total 383 441 504 420 1748  

Holidays

Holiday provision can include formal, registered provision which is aimed at meeting the childcare needs of 
working parents and holiday activity sessions including Playschemes, which offer social activities for 
children in holiday periods. The figures in the tables below reflect these types of service but show a 
differential in the target figures. 

Page 66



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 17

 holiday childcare aimed at working families is targeted at children from families deemed 
“economically active” which equates to a Borough average of 69.3% of the child population, at a 
target ratio of 1 place for every 20 children.

Locality Birth Rate Target Children 
(69.3%)

Available places Ratio (target 1:20)

Heywood 2575 1784 343 1 to 5.2

Pennine 2196 1522 134 1 to 11.35

Middleton 2503 1735 296 1 to 5.86

Rochdale 10251 7104 538 1 to 13.2

Rochdale 
Borough

17525 12145 1311 1 to 9.26

These places are provided by the following sectors and township for HOLIDAY places

Sector Heywood Pennine Middleton Rochdale Borough 
Total

%

Private / Voluntary providers 207 84 246 388 925 71%
Schools (Link 4 Life) 136 50 0 0 336 26%
Maintained Nursery Schools 0 0 0 0 0 4%
Independent, private, academy 0 0 0 0 0 0%
 
Total 343 134 246 338 1311

Gaps in provision 

Whilst we are seen to be meeting our own targets in this age range, much of the provision in holidays is not 
full day and not in operation for the full weeks of the holidays (e.g. for six weeks in summer). Whilst we 
have no reports of unmet demand, and previous pilot schemes have proved unsuccessful, it would be a 
supported development should a provider come forward to establish such provision in any of the Borough’s 
four townships.

Childcare for older children

There are many models of delivery for before and after school provision for 5-11 year olds ranging from 
after school clubs on and off school sites to private nurseries and childminders who often provide a school 
pick-up service.

Changes described above to the way Ofsted register and apply places to early years and childcare 
providers make it very difficult to calculate sufficiency based on supply and demand for different age 
groups. In addition school run provision is no longer required to be Ofsted registered and many additional 
after school activities take place in schools that support working parents.

Unmet demand has been recorded for a small number of parents who have reported difficulties in 
identifying appropriate before and after school provision to meet their needs. This information is shared 

Page 67



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 18

widely with childcare providers and schools; however, demand has not translated into sufficient numbers at 
a local level to make it a viable business proposition.

A brokerage service has been offered and on some occasions parents have been able to resolve their 
childcare needs by considering alternative types of provision such as childminders.

Childcare for 11 to 14 year olds generally does not relate to meeting the needs of working parents and 
tends to lean heavily towards informal activity based sessions usually in the holidays or early evenings. 
Information regarding activities, groups and organisations offering services to children and young people in 
this age range are detailed separately to this report and The Family Service Directory (FSD). Information 
regarding this can be found here:

http://search3.openobjects.com/kb5/rochdale/fsd/results.page?newfamilychannel=5 

4. The Local Offer

Every local authority must identify education, health and social care services in their local area provided for 
children, young people and families who have SEN or disabilities and include them in an information 
directory called the Local Offer. This also helps us see where the gaps in provision are. 

Local services should reflect what local people need. The local authority must ask children, parents and 
young people what they think the Local Offer should include, and how they think people should be able to 
access it, and Rochdale are currently working with their local Parent Carer Forum to develop this. We must 
publish what children, young people and parents tell them about their Local Offer and say clearly what they 
will do about the comments they receive.

Rochdale are also currently working with local schools, colleges, health services and other service 
providers to contribute to the Local Offer and develop this further. Services and support regarding the 
Council’s local offer for children with additional needs can be found here:

http://search3.openobjects.com/kb5/rochdale/fsd/localoffer.page

Prevalence of SEND in the borough

In 2017, there were 1450 children and young persons between the ages and 0-25 years in Rochdale who 
have a statement of Special Educational Need or EHC Plan. These are in the following age ranges;

Statement Education Health & Care Plan
Last Year 16/17 This year 17/18 Last Year 16/17 This year 17/18

Under 5 16 0 49 77
5 to 10 years 325 264 173 254
11 to 15 years 435 213 100 370
16 to 19 years 51 17 136 220
20 to 25 years 0 0 2 35

Total 827 494 460 956

As can be seen in the above table the number of children under 5 with EHCP plans has risen significantly. 
This is placing budgetary pressures as these children will be entitled to free entitlement places (both 15 and 
30 hours) and the high need funding that supports the inclusion of these children.

Page 68

http://search3.openobjects.com/kb5/rochdale/fsd/results.page?newfamilychannel=5
http://search3.openobjects.com/kb5/rochdale/fsd/localoffer.page


Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 19

Funding Inclusion

Inclusion

In 2012 we introduced a new funding stream to support inclusive practice in early years and childcare 
provision in the Borough. This funding sought to assess the level of additional need within a setting that 
was based on children attending but did not attach funding to an individual child. 

The purpose of the fund is to support providers in including children with additional or specific needs 
through contributing to additional staff hours or specialist resources. It is not a grant to pay for one to one 
staff to support individual children. In the Spring Term, January 2018 this funding was offered to 47 
individual settings who supported an average of 164 children to be included in mainstream provision.

High Need Funding

Additional funding at a higher rate is paid to settings to enable children who have an Education, Health and 
Care Plan (EHCP) and are eligible for free entitlements to access these places and receive the additional 
support that may be required. In January 2018 this additional high rate funding was paid for 16 children

The total funding allocated to both of these streams is £171,000 per annum.

Supported Day Care

The Supported Day Care scheme provides childcare to pre-school age children that are assessed as at 
level 3 and above on Rochdale’s Children’s Needs and Response Framework (CNRF).  

The scheme aims to promote children’s safety and wellbeing by providing support to families at the Early 
Help level so that their needs do not escalate further and to families at higher levels by helping them to 
meet their children’s basic needs and avoiding the need for care outside of the family.  

Placements are offered on a part time basis (usually a maximum of 12 hours per week and usually with a 
maximum duration of 24 weeks). These places offer a direct way of ensuring that these families access 
their free entitlements at the period where this funding ceases.

In the year January 2017 to 31st December 2017;

• 61 children from 56 families accessed the scheme. 
• 21 of these children were re-referred to the scheme and offered additional hours.       

Of these;
• 21 were assessed as being at CNRF level 3,
• 21 at CNRF level 4

and; 
• 19 at CNRF level 5. 

The level of concern for the majority of children de-escalated or remained the same during placement. 

For 2 children the level of concern escalated from level 4 to level 5.

Of the level 3 children, the average duration of placement was 14 weeks and 14.5 hours per week. 
Of the level 4 children, the average duration of placement was 16 weeks and 15.75 hours per week
Of the level 5 children, the average duration of placement was 16 weeks and 14.25 hours per week.

Page 69



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 20

5. Cost of childcare

The table below sets out the average costs of childcare provision. The Rochdale figures are taken from a 
local annual audit and the costs are an average of those local providers who responded. The regional and 
national figures are taken from the 2016 Family & Childcare Trust Childcare Costs survey and the headings 
used for comparison are those from that survey.

Nursery 25 
hours (under 

2)

Nursery 25 
hours (2 and 

over)

Childminder 
25 hours 
(under 2)

Childminder 
25 hours (2 
and over)

After-
school 
club 15 
hours

Childminder 
before/after-school  

(per week)

Rochdale £111.93 £107.22 £102.00 £104.75 £37.02 £75.00

North West £101.00 £98.02 £86.98 £89.09 £46.46 £50.78

England average £117.43 £113.43 £110.68 £110.11 £52.80 £68.12

This table sets out local, regional and national median earnings taken from the official labour market statistics (Nomis 
2017).

Average median earnings comparison                             
 Weekly Annually

Rochdale £ 464.19 £ 24,138

Greater Manchester £ 502.63 £ 26,317

North West £ 514.50 £ 26,754

England £ 552.69 £ 28,740

6. Contribution to “school readiness”

Much national statistical information refers to the link between high quality early years provision and 
individual child attainment in later years. We are pleased that 96% of providers from all sectors have 
received a grading from Ofsted of good or above.

We are equally pleased that we have not only maintained but increased these levels of grade and 
qualification despite severe budget pressures and changes in national legislation regarding the levels of 
support the Local Authority may offer to providers, particularly those from the Private, Voluntary and 
Independent sectors. 

However, despite this progress the percentage of children achieving a good level of development in 2016 
was below the national and regional averages as shown below;

England Average 70.7%
North West 67.9%
GM Average 67.5%
Rochdale Average 63.8% 

Whilst the improvement in good level of development continues to be a priority target across early years, it 
is encouraging that the % increase in Rochdale continues to rise year on year with a 0.8% rise in 
comparison to last year.

Page 70



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 21

In analysing children in the bottom 20% in the Borough we know that this relates to the following 
percentages of children in the bottom 20%, in each of the Boroughs four townships;

Township Last Year This Year +/- change

Heywood 10.16% 10.75%    +0.59%
Middleton 20.92% 17.98%    - 2.94%
Pennine 12.95% 14.93%    +1.98%
Rochdale 55.98% 54.74%     -1.24%

Out of borough    n/a   1.61%          -

In assessing the impact early years provision can make on results at Key Stage 1 we have identified which 
(if any) early years providers these children may have attended in their pre-school years and this is shown 
in the following table. 

 “PVI” represents providers in the private, voluntary and independent sectors  

 “M” represents providers in the maintained sector which would include nursery classes and nursery 
schools 

 “Out Of Borough indicates the child attended a pre-school setting outside of Rochdale which is 
known. 

 “None” indicates no pre-school setting was recorded, therefore the total should not be read as 
meaning that all of these children did not attend any pre-school setting as many may have accessed 
in or outside of the borough but where is not known. 

Attending pre-school provision is not a mandatory or legal requirement and we know that a small 
percentage of parents choose not to access their free entitlements or paid for pre-school provision.

Township Total children 
(in bottom 20%)

Pre School 
Sector 

attended

Number by 
sector

% of all
(rounded)

M 8 12%
PVI 39 58%Heywood 67

None 20 29%

M 26 23%
PVI 64 57%Middleton 112

None 22 19%

M 22 23%
PVI 54 58%Pennine 93

None 17 18%

M 83 24%
PVI 165 48%Rochdale 341

None 93 27%

M 156 25%
PVI 324 52%Borough Total 623

None 143 23%
Page 71



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 22

Of the 623 children in the bottom 20% of achievement we know that 186 of these have attending settings 
located in more advantaged areas of the borough and a further 41 are known not to have attended a pre-
school. 

294 children are or have attended settings located in known areas of disadvantage with a further 102 
known not to have attended a pre-school. 

Links between childcare and the planning of school places

Early education places and school places are inherently linked. Children naturally move from early learning 
and childcare places to statutory school places. Just under half of early learning provision in Rochdale is 
provided by schools and around half of primary schools have a nursery class which is included in the legal 
definition of “childcare” and therefore included in this assessment. 

An increasing number of schools offer additional childcare services such as breakfast clubs, after school 
clubs and full day-care. Others share their building or site with independent providers of these services.
The strategic responsibility for ensuring sufficient childcare places, school places and specialist provision 
rests with Rochdale Early Help and Schools Service. Officers work closely together joining up work and 
future planning where possible for the benefit of Rochdale children and families’ schools and all Rochdale 
Early Years and Childcare providers including schools.

7. Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP) 

EYPP is additional funding that the government makes available for early years settings (including 
childminders) to improve the education they provide for disadvantaged three and four year olds.

Three and four year old children (excluding four year olds in reception places) accessing Free Early 
Education become eligible for EYPP based on the following criteria:

 Children from low income families (as defined by the criteria for free school meals)
 Children who have been looked after for 1 day or more.
 Children who have been adopted from local authority care in England or Wales.
 Children who have left care under a special guardianship order or child arrangement order in 

England or Wales

In the Autumn Term (September 2017) 724 children in Rochdale Borough have been eligible and funded 
for the Early Years Pupil Premium. This amounts to £219,000 passed to providers to support those 
childrens educational development over a full three terms.

724 children equate to approx. 26% of all 3 and 4 year olds (excluding 4YO’s in reception classes) which is 
line with the national average of 27% of all eligible 3 and 4YO’s.

Page 72



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 23

8. Family Information Service - Information to parents and carers

The Childcare Act 2006, Section 12, places a duty on local authorities in England to ensure that 
prospective parents and parents of children up to the age of 20 can access the full range of information to 
support them in their parenting role.  In summary, each local authority must ensure the following:

 the provision of comprehensive, accurate and up to date information on childcare and other local 
support services for parents and carers of children and young people up to the age of 20 years.

 the information provided can be accessed easily, from a choice of locations accessible to parents, 
carers and prospective parents and in different media and formats.

 a family  information service which can directly support parents and also signpost them to services 
and information available at both a local and national level 

 a family information service which engages with disadvantaged families and those who are hard to 
reach and helping them to overcome any barriers to access.

 impartial information delivered in a way which allows parents to make informed choices through 
making them aware of available services which can support their family.

 an information service which is accessible to both mothers and fathers and which is targeted to 
reflect the local community.  

Our Family Information Service strategy suggests that there are three levels of customer status, these 
being;

Universal / Self Serving – families who are able to access the information they need, to the level they need, 
through internet or telephone access at a local and/or national level. At a local level these families would 
gain information from the LA website and/or contact centre and at a national level through web access to 
national organisations, groups or government departments.

Independent – families who arrange their own childcare and other needs through direct access to a service 
provider, known through word of mouth, local reputation or other non-council recommendation.

Dependent – families who have specific, complex or service specific needs that are unable to be met 
through independent or universal means of access and require specialist knowledge, guidance and help to 
resolve those needs and issues that cannot be provided outside of the local authority.

Current statistics for the period Jan–Dec 2017 suggest that 70% of calls made to the contact centre are 
resolved at that point and require no further input from the Local Authority. The success of the contact
centre in dealing with these enquiries, whilst dependent upon the skills of their staff, is also wholly reliant on 
the quality of information they access. 

The Family Information Service has the local knowledge, skills and expertise to ensure that information 
which underpins the service at the point of delivery, locally or nationally, is of the highest quality and 
accuracy possible. Ensuring the availability of the best possible quality of information directly contributes to 
the Council’s vision of promoting success and independence. 

Whilst 70% of calls are successfully resolved at the Contact Centre stage, a further 30% of calls do then 
require further support or “brokerage” help from the Family Information Service Officer for these to be 
resolved satisfactorily. It is these calls that we would classify as being in the dependent category. These 
more complex needs can, amongst others, include the following;

 finding support, either formal or informal, for families who may be experiencing issues which leave 
them vulnerable to isolation, which in turn might lead to further dependency on council services if 
not resolved at an early stage

Page 73



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 24

 sourcing childcare where unmet childcare needs are preventing or potentially preventing, parents 
from access training, working or returning to work.

 advising and signposting families to the financial support that may be available to them through the 
myriad of government grants, initiatives or income transfer schemes currently available (and subject 
to constant change)

 ensuring that families with children with additional needs find the correct services that support their 
child’s development and their family’s needs.

8.1. Customer Satisfaction and Unmet demand

We routinely record any childcare requests that cannot be reasonably met following initial contact and/or 
brokerage. In 2017 there were 0 requests made to the Family Information Service unable to be resolved. All 
requests for brokerage were successfully resolved.

9. Conclusions

 Whilst the number of children aged 0 – 14 has risen in the borough since the 2011 Census, so too 
has the number of childcare providers proportionally.

 The childcare market in Rochdale remains diverse, delivered through a range of organisations 
including the private, voluntary, independent sectors, childminders and local authority run provision.

 A large number of providers offer flexible patterns of care including the facility for children to access 
their free funded early education hours over a longer period across the year.

 A small number of childcare providers are able to offer enhanced patterns of care including longer 
opening hours.

 The quality of childcare provision in Rochdale has improved and continues to improve year on year.
 The majority of parent and carers find that there is a good choice of childcare in Rochdale and that 

they are satisfied with the childcare that they use
 We are attracting a number of new providers, particularly in the Private Day Nursery sector. 

However this is offset by a reduction in the number of pre-school playgroups. Childminder numbers 
are remaining fairly stable.

Page 74



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 25

10. Future Challenges

National Issues

The introduction of the 30 hour entitlement will continue to be challenging for the LA and early years 
providers as we move into the 2nd and 3rd terms of its introduction. There remain some on-going issues 
which the government will need to address, these include;

 continuing issues with the “Childcare Choices” eligibility checking system. Parents have to use this 
system to gain eligibility and there are continuing issues with codes being issued and re- confirmed 
and parents understanding of “grace periods” and what they are required to do and when. This has 
had some effects on funding as there has been uncertainty in a number of cases regarding which 
parents continue to be eligible and which parents are no longer eligible.

 there remains a national campaign (driven by national organisations such as the Pre School 
Learning Alliance and National Day Nurseries Association) around funding which the government 
provides to support free entitlements. Whilst the LA has no influence over the nationally set funding 
rates the number of Freedom of Information (FOI) requests made to the LA around this issue has 

            dramatically increased in the past year. The national campaign suggests that the rates set by 
            government are forcing providers to either close or pass on additional charges to parents. At a local 
            level we have not seen any providers close directly as a result of funding rates (we have seen 
            playgroups close as a result of low numbers attending). However, we have seen a small increase 
            over previous years in the number of parents contacting the LA regarding disputes between them 
            and their chosen providers over fees and charges.

Local Issues

 We are concerned regarding the effect the introduction of 30 hour places will have on 15 hour 
universal places in some areas of the borough which is detailed earlier in this report. This may affect 
the LA’s Childcare Sufficiency Duty through supply not being able to meet demand in some of areas 
of the borough. This is something we will continue to monitor on a term by term basis.

 There remain a low percentage of schools willing to offer 2 Year old places – in some areas of the 
borough (e.g. Newbold) schools are the only current option for this place development.

 Local Offer and funding: Whilst we have some time ago established a high needs funding stream 
the fact that some of the eligible children will also be eligible for the 30 hour extended entitlement 
will provide a new budgetary challenge in that this effectively doubles the funding those children 
may be entitled to. If this exceeds the available budget we may have to revise (downwards) the 
hourly rate we pay to as there are no alternative sources of funding available currently.

 Pre School Playgroups – we are very concerned that some pre-school playgroups have closed in 
the past year. In Childcare Sufficiency terms we are concerned that this trend sees a reduction in 
the childcare options and provider types parents may be able to access and we have concerns that 
this may continue.

Page 75



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 26

11. Recommendations

Action Timescale

Encourage development of two year old places in schools 
and other providers, in identified areas of under supply, 
particularly Newbold, and Smallbridge / Wardle Edge.

On going

Encourage development of varying models of service 
delivery including joint working between providers from 
different sectors to facilitate supply of places to meet the 
new 30 hour entitlement, particularly in areas where lack of 
group provision inhibits place development and access

On going

Introduce monitoring systems to assess effects on existing 
free entitlements arising from the introduction of the 30 hour 
childcare entitlement

Termly on an on-going basis

Monitor improvements in attainment levels of children in the 
lowest 20% locally against previous year’s figures

On going

Continue to share instances of unmet demand with all 
childcare providers and encourage them to expand their 
provision where appropriate to meet identified need. 

On going

Work with the 10 AGMA Local Authorities to develop joint 
working and protocols in relation to all early years delivery 
and administration

On going

Review the information, advice and guidance available to 
parents, carers and families about help towards childcare 
costs via the Family Service Directory

April 2018

12. Strategy Governance (Mandatory)

Responsible Childcare Development Manager

Accountable Asst. Director Early Help & Schools

Ownership Early Help & Schools

Consulted Senior Leadership Team

Informed All Early Years and Childcare providers

13. Strategy Review Date

The Childcare Sufficiency Assessment is a statutory duty that must be reported to elected members and 
published annually. The review which informs each assessment begins in January of each year with the 
final report published in April each year. The next review will begin in January 2019.

Page 76



Rochdale          Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
2017/18

rochdale.gov.uk 27

 

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside

Smith Street

Rochdale OL16 1YH

  rochdale.gov.uk

  01706 647474

  council@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 77



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting   27th March 2018
Portfolio Councillor Kieran Heakin 

Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services

Report Author Fay Davies
Public/Private Document Public

Proposed School Enlargements - Determination of Statutory 
Proposals

Executive Summary

1.

1.1

Responses from the statutory proposals and published notices for the 
enlargement of Belfield Community Primary, Lowerplace Primary, St Lukes CE 
Primary and Siddal Moor Sports College are reported.

Following on from the 19th December 2017 report to Cabinet regarding the 
consultation on the Need for Extra Primary and Secondary Places, a 
consultation on the enlargement of the above schools was held. This report 
details the responses to the consultation on enlargement of the schools and 
requests Cabinet approval for the mentioned enlargements.

Recommendation

2.

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Consider the responses submitted to the published statutory proposals and 
taking account of the statutory guidance for Decision Makers to:

Approve the enlargement of Belfield CP School by providing an additional 15 
places in each new admission year group from September 2018. The 
enlargement of the school would increase the admission number from 45 to 60 
permanently.

Approve the enlargement of Lowerplace Primary School by providing an 
additional 30 places in each new admission year group from September 2018. 
The enlargement of the school would increase the admission number from 60 
to 90 permanently.

Approve the enlargement of St Lukes CE Primary by providing an additional 
30 places in each new admission year from September 2019. The 
enlargement of the school would increase the admission number from 30 to 60 
permanently.

Approve the enlargement of Siddal Moor by providing an additional 60 places 

Page 78

Agenda Item 12



in each new year group from September 2019. The enlargement of the school 
would increase the admission number from 210 to 270 permanently. The 
school agreed a temporary rise in admission of 30 places from 210 to 240, in 
its existing space, for 1 year only for September 2018.

Reason for Recommendation

3.

3.1

3.2

3.3

Each Local authority has a statutory duty to secure a sufficient number of 
school places in their area. 

In central Rochdale Township during the previous few years too few primary 
school places have been available in the area which has meant extra capacity 
having to be created in higher primary year groups. This creates instability and 
unwanted extra moves for children in their primary years. Extra capacity in 
primary years is needed going forward to accommodate both those children 
who were born and currently living, and those moving into the area.

In Heywood Township birth rates have been rising for the last few years and 
current primary capacity in the area is not sufficient for those children who are 
due to start school in 2019.

Secondary schools in the borough do not have capacity for children currently 
in year 6 in Rochdale Borough primary schools. Extra capacity is being 
created temporarily in Siddal Moor Sports College for September 2018 and 
further capacity is needed for September 2019. A new school is needed in the 
borough for September 2020.

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

Need for Extra Places in Primary Schools
The need for extra school capacity in Primary schools in Rochdale and 
Heywood Townships was detailed in the report to Cabinet on the 24th October 
2017 and feedback from a 4 week consultation on extra spaces in Primary 
schools was given in the report to Cabinet on the19th December 2017. 

Following the consultation the Cabinet approved the publication of statutory 
proposals for the enlargement of the schools detailed above. Statutory Notices 
were published in the local press, posted on the Council website and at the 
schools. The statutory 4 week representation period started on 5th February 
2018 and ended on 4th March 2018. Information on the proposals was sent to 
interested parties as required by Department for Education Guidance. 

Appendix A details the statutory proposals for each school enlargement with 
current school census numbers, statements on the current quality of provision 
and 5 year forecasts for Rochdale Township (for Belfield CP and Lowerplace 
Primary) and for Heywood Township (St Lukes CE Primary).

Appendix B details the responses to the published proposals.

St Lukes CE Primary statutory proposals consultation responses:
There were 4 responses to the St Lukes Primary enlargement proposal; 3 in 

Page 79



4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

support of the enlargement and 1 against. One of the responses in support 
raises concerns of increased road traffic during drop off and pick up times. 
These concerns will be addressed via a Travel Plan for each site and also be 
subject to Highways scrutiny during the planning application process.

Belfield Community Primary statutory proposals consultation responses:
There were 4 responses to the Belfield CP enlargement all supporting the 
enlargement. Two of the responses raise concerns of increased road traffic 
during drop off and pick up times. These concerns will be addressed via a 
Travel Plan for each site and also be subject to Highways scrutiny during the 
planning application process. Two responses from prospective parents are 
very supportive of the school and the good education opportunities it provides.

Lowerplace Primary statutory proposals consultation responses:
There were 2 responses to the Lowerplace enlargement all supporting the 
enlargement. Both of the responses raise concerns of increased road traffic 
during drop off and pick up times. These concerns will be addressed via a 
Travel Plan for each site and also be subject to Highways scrutiny during the 
planning application process. The second response is in support but raises the 
issue of the use of modular classroom accommodation currently on the site 
and its use long term.

Need for Extra Year 7 Places in Secondary Schools
The need for extra school capacity in secondary schools in the borough was 
detailed in the report to Cabinet on the 24th October 2017 and feedback from 
the consultation on extra spaces in Secondary schools was given in the report 
to Cabinet on the 19th December 2017.

Following the consultation the Cabinet approved the publication of statutory 
proposals for the enlargement of the secondary school detailed above. 
Statutory Notices were published in the local press, posted on the Council 
website and at the schools. The statutory 4 week representation period started 
on 5th February 2018 and ended on 4th March 2018. Information on the 
proposals was sent to interested parties as required by Department for 
Education Guidance.

Appendix A details the statutory proposals for Siddal Moor Sports College 
enlargement with current school census numbers, statements on the current 
quality of provision and 9 year forecasts for the combined Heywood and 
Middleton Area.

Appendix B details the responses to the published proposals for Siddal Moor 
Sports College. There was one response in support of the proposed 
enlargement which was in support but raised the issue of extra traffic created 
at drop off and pick up times. These concerns will be addressed via a Travel 
Plan for each site and also be subject to Highways scrutiny during the 
planning application process.

Consideration of the Statutory Proposals
The statutory guidance for “School Organisation-Maintained schools-guidance 
for proposers and decision makers” and specifically Annex B Guidance for 

Page 80



4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

Decision Makers sets out the matters to be considered in determining the 
statutory proposals. A copy of the document is attached as Appendix C to this 
report (available on the Council website).

Types of decision
In considering the proposals Cabinet can decide to:

 reject the proposals;
 approve the proposals;
 approve the proposals with a modification; or
 approve the proposals subject to them meeting a specific condition.

In making a determination Cabinet, as the decision maker, must give reasons 
for the decision.

Factors to be considered by decision makers
Consideration of consultation and representation period: The required 
information and documentation for the proposal is contained within the 
Prescribed Information in Appendix A. The report to Cabinet on 19th 
December 2017 evidences that the required consultation was undertaken 
before the publication of Statutory Proposals. The Published Notices comply 
with statutory requirements and representation requirements have been met. 
The notes of comments received and responses to these are summarised in 
paragraphs 4.4, 4.5, 4.6 and 4.10 above and are attached as Appendix B.

Education standards and diversity of provision: Belfield CP and St Lukes CE 
Primary proposed for expansion were judged ‘Good’ at the last inspection. 
Lowerplace Primary and Siddal Moor Sports College were both rated 
‘Requires Improvement’. 

Demand for places: There has been an increase in the number of children 
requiring school places in the Borough and particularly in the central Rochdale 
area as identified in the appendices to this report. These proposals are part of 
the response from the Local Authority to meeting the need for additional 
school places in Rochdale. The Local Authority plans school place demand 
taking account of the number of children born, the pattern of demand 
comparing the number of children born and the number starting in Reception 
classes and their transition to secondary school, together with movement into 
and out of the Borough and the potential effect of new housing developments.

School size: Not applicable - the context for this section relates to the viability 
and cost effectiveness of small schools.

Proposed Admission arrangements: The schools are covered by the Local 
Authority’s published admission criteria and arrangements will apply to the 
allocation of places at the school.

National Curriculum: The schools follow the National Curriculum.

Equal Opportunity Issues: The provision of extra school places will improve 
parental preference. Other equality considerations will assessed during the 
feasibility and planning stages.

Page 81



4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

4.25

4.26

4.27

4.28

Community cohesion: There are no community cohesion issues arising from 
the proposals.

Travel and accessibility: Most children attending the schools live within the 
statutory walking distances and this will continue to be the case. Concerns 
over increased traffic and parking were expressed in both the consultation and 
the representation periods. A school travel plan will be prepared for each 
school to address these concerns.

Capital resources will be required to implement these proposals. This report 
confirms approval of the capital from within current capital allocations.

School premises and playing fields: In order to accommodate extra children 
additional teaching accommodation will be required. Under DfE non-statutory 
guidance (Building Bulletin 103) the areas required have been assessed and 
there is sufficient space on the sites to accommodate the growth.
Implementation of the proposals if approved

If the proposals are approved, the Local Authority will be responsible for their 
implementation.

Recommended decision
In view of the information provided for these statutory proposals and noting the 
representations made, it is recommended that the statutory proposals for the 
enlargement of all the proposed schools are approved subject to the granting 
of planning consent for the required building works.

The reason for the recommendation is that additional school places are 
required in the Borough over the next few years. Also, the proposed additional 
accommodation and increase in numbers means that the Local Authority 
would meet the threshold for the publication of statutory proposals.

Alternatives Considered

Since 2010/11 academic year 31 of the boroughs 69 Primary schools have 
either taken extra bulge classes or had enlargement building work. In 
Heywood 5 of the 10 Primary schools have taken extra children. St Lukes CE 
Primary is one of the schools that has previously taken 3 years of bulge 
classes. In Rochdale Township 10 of the 30 schools have taken extra children 
previously. When choosing which schools to enlarge consideration has been 
given both cost and feasibility of all schools in the areas needed.

Since 2014/15 academic year 10 of the boroughs 12 Secondary Schools have 
either taken bulge classes or had enlargement building work. The borough will 
need a new school by 2020.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. The capital cost of implementing the proposal, if approved, will be met from 
Capital Grant allocations reported to and approved by Cabinet on 6th March 

Page 82



2017 and 19th December 2017. Revenue Funding Implications will be funded 
through the Dedicated Schools Grant.

Risk and Policy Implications

Each Local Authority has a statutory duty to secure a sufficient number of 
school places in their area. Local Authorities and other relevant bodies have 
a duty to comply with Infant Class Size Limits. Admission Authorities have a 
duty to comply with any preference expressed by a parent for a school place 
except where to do so would prejudice the provision of efficient education or 
the efficient use of resources. Following the recommendations in this report 
the Local Authority will be able to discharge those duties.

The proposal to enlarge the schools requires a statutory process to be 
followed because there will be an increase in accommodation and the  
proposed, permanent increase in numbers means that the schools will 
permanently increase in size by more than the threshold set out in statutory 
guidance.

The Council has a duty to fully consider the outcome of the consultation and 
any representations made to the Council during the consultation period and 
must also have due regard to equality impact issues to avoid the risk of legal 
challenge.

6.

6.1

6.2

Consultation

7. The report to Cabinet on 19th December 2017 evidences that the required 
consultation was undertaken before the publication of Statutory Proposals. 
The Published Notices comply with statutory requirements and 
representation requirements have been met. Statutory Notices were 
published in the local press, posted on the Council website and at the 
schools. The statutory 4 week representation period started on 5th February 
2018 and ended on 4th March 2018. Information on the proposals was sent 
to interested parties as required by Department for Education Guidance.
Consultation documents were also sent to Unions and Schools to assess 
workforce implications.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. There are no background papers N/A

For Further Information Contact: Fay Davies, , 
fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 83



Document is Restricted

Page 84

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 88

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 27th March 2018 
Portfolio Councillor Kieran Heakin 

Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services

Report Author Debra Kay
Public/Private Document Public with exception of 

Appendix A

Capital Investment In Schools 2018/19

Executive Summary

1.

1.1

The report seeks approval for proposed expenditure on various schemes in 
accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.  These regulations 
provide that Cabinet approval should be obtained before new expenditure can 
be incurred.  This report requests approval and tender acceptance, where 
necessary, for the outlined and reserve schemes proposed, contingency and 
other specified budgets.

The future capital allocations are as follows:
 Basic Need (New School Places 2018/19)                          £5,200,090 

(the above allocation was first reported to Cabinet in March 2017)
 Basic Need (New School Places 2019/20)                          £9,987,191
 School Condition Allocation (indicative figure for 2018/19) £1,880,000
 Devolved Formula Capital (DFC)                                           £513,000

(indicative figure for 2018/19)                                     

Recommendation

2. Approve expenditure on the proposed final programmes detailed within this 
report (Appendix A), for invitations to tender to be issued and accepted and 
for the supporting contracts, PFI deeds of variation (where necessary) and 
any incidental and ancillary documentation, to be signed in order to deliver the 
development schemes outlined in the appendices, in accordance with 
Financial Regulations:
 Basic Need Programme of £16,487,281 as set out in Appendix A
 Capital Programme of £2,475,200 as set out in Appendix A

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Authority has received confirmation of allocations for Basic Need for a 
further year (2019/20), and for other school capital allocations for one year 
only. Proposals for extra school places were reported to Cabinet 19th 
December 2017 and will be followed by further phases as identified.  Repairs 

Page 113

Agenda Item 13



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

to the school estate have considered all commitments and urgent demands 
before making recommendations to address the most significant issues, in 
conjunction with continued DFC allocations to schools.

As well as on-going support for the current phases of capital works already 
committed, we are proposing a new programme of works to address major 
condition needs based on Asset Management information, recently 
commissioned and prioritised full building condition survey information and 
priority place planning demands in order to ensure that we satisfy the LA’s 
statutory obligations for the provision of school places and continued 
education. Our full recommendations for inclusion in this year’s capital 
programme are outlined in Appendix A, including costs estimated by Property 
Services.

It is proposed that the Buildings Maintenance revenue budget will be used, as 
in previous years, to support programme development costs, emergency/ 
unplanned repairs and ongoing obligations related to the inspection of the 
schools building stock.

School Capital Programme
The School Condition Allocation grant covers both primary and secondary 
schools, but is weighted by the Department for Education (DfE) in favour of 
those schools which have not received new build/refurbishment investment.  It 
is proposed that the allocation is targeted at primary schools given the 
investment in secondary schools through BSF. However, recognising that 
secondary schools may have specific, urgent needs or a new requirement for 
work to areas of the buildings outside the scope of the BSF programme, a 
contingency is available to support this, if necessary.

It is proposed that all of the allocation will be used towards an extensive 
programme of capital work as outlined in Appendix A (New Capital 
Programme) with any balance of the allocation being used in conjunction with 
remaining Basic Need funding as outlined in Appendix A.

School Place Planning
The Basic Need grant allocation is provided by the DfE to make available new 
school places in accordance with demands across the borough. Existing 
commitments have been documented in previous reports to Cabinet (most 
recently 19th December 2017) and the remaining allocation will be dedicated to 
the provision of further new school places. Detailed proposals for the use of 
subsequent year’s unallocated Basic Need grant will be dependent upon 
further monitoring and analysis of primary and secondary school place 
demand for September 2019 onwards.

Devolved Formula Capital Grant
All schools receive a capital allocation which has to be spent over a three year 
period, targeted at school condition priorities, in accordance with the locally 
agreed asset management priorities and guidance issued by the DfE.  The 
DfE indicative figure for 2018/19 is £513,000 and is divided between all 
schools (except Voluntary Aided Schools which receive their allocations direct 
from the DfE). With the limited DFC allocations held by schools for condition 

Page 114



3.7

and suitability works, there will remain an expectation that we offer support at 
a similar level to previous years.

Changes to Programme
It is inevitable when developing a major capital programme that changes will 
be required as a result of further consultation with schools, this may include 
increases/decreases in project costs, unforeseen delays or if circumstances 
prevent a project from starting or it becomes unviable. To allow maximum cost 
efficiencies to be achieved in any financial year, we propose to manage the 
programme in two tiers to facilitate any required changes within the 
programme timetable but within the overall budget. The cost proposals set out 
for the place planning proposals include wider council objectives such as the 
increase in nursery places and sufficiency of teaching accommodation. The 
programme also has to take account of the potential risk of irrecoverable VAT 
liability on voluntary aided schemes. It is intended therefore that further 
reports will not be brought to Cabinet unless a requirement for any new 
schemes is identified, which cannot be managed via the urgent health and 
safety contingency budget allocation.

Key Points for Consideration

4. Alternatives Considered
Proposals are put forward in line with priorities and commitments approved in 
previous Cabinet reports.  Major priorities for the forthcoming year are 
additional pupil place planning (shortage of primary, secondary and special 
school places) as reported to Cabinet 19th December 2017 and a school 
building condition works programme to address the highest priority issues. 

Costs and Budget Summary

5. This report contains proposals for schemes, programmes and commitments 
with a total value of £18,962,481 (detailed in Appendix A) in addition to school 
DFC contributions.  Current funding is based on grants from the DfE and is 
included within the Council’s Budget Book.  

Risk and Policy Implications

The Local Authority has a duty to secure sufficient school places and is also 
the strategic commissioner for new school places in its area.

6.

Consultation

7. Proposals incorporated within this report continue to be the subject of 
consultation at school level. The programme of works included in this report 
is subject to ongoing review taking account of changes in projected 
costs/unforeseen emergencies and further need identified, in particular with 
regard to school place proposals.

Separate meetings are held with the Church of England and Roman Catholic 
Diocesan representatives on Asset Management Planning in order to jointly 

Page 115



agree priorities for work in Voluntary Aided Schools.  

Background Papers Place of Inspection

Asset Management, School 
Organisation and other 
documents are available to 
support this report.

School Organisation and Development 
Team. Floor 4, No. 1 Riverside.

For Further Information Contact: Debra Kay Tel. 01706 925130 
debra.kay@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 116



Document is Restricted

Page 117

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	Minutes , 27/02/2018 Cabinet

	6 Finance Update Report 2017/18
	Append. 1 for Finance Update Report 2017/18

	7 Planning Services: Planning Performance Agreements
	8 Housing Allocations
	9 Gender Pay Gap
	10 GM Wide Continuity of Service Protocol for the Recognition of Service between Local Authorities and Specified Employers within Greater Manchester.
	11 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2017/18
	Append. 1 for Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2017/18

	12 Proposed School Enlargements - Determination of Statutory Proposals
	Append. B for Proposed School Enlargements - Determination of Statutory Proposals
	Append. C for Proposed School Enlargements - Determination of Statutory Proposals

	13 Capital Investment In Schools 2018/19
	15 ;Capital Investment In Schools 2018/19 - Appendix A and B

